Shannon, Eli Spencer (2022) The Effect of a 2-Week Ischemic Preconditioning Intervention on Anaerobic Performance in Non-Elite Male Soccer Players. Masters thesis, York St John University.

Downloaded from: http://ray.yorksj.ac.uk/id/eprint/7463/

Research at York St John (RaY) is an institutional repository. It supports the principles of open access by making the research outputs of the University available in digital form. Copyright of the items stored in RaY reside with the authors and/or other copyright owners. Users may access full text items free of charge, and may download a copy for private study or non-commercial research. For further reuse terms, see licence terms governing individual outputs. Institutional Repository Policy Statement

RaY

Research at the University of York St John For more information please contact RaY at <u>ray@yorksj.ac.uk</u>

The Effect of a 2-Week Ischemic Preconditioning Intervention on Anaerobic Performance in Non-Elite Male Soccer Players

Eli Spencer Shannon

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Master of Science by Research

York St John University

School of Science, Technology and Health September 2022 The candidate confirms that the work submitted is their own and that appropriate credit has been given where reference has been made to the work of others.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material. Any reuse must comply with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 and any licence under which this copy is released.

©2022 York St John University and Eli Spencer Shannon

The right of Eli Spencer Shannon to be identified as Author of this work has been asserted by him in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

Acknowledgements

This thesis would not be possible without the everlasting support from many individuals in my life.

Dr Sophie Carter; Senior Lecturer and Supervisor at York St. John University

First and foremost, I want to thank my supervisor and mentor, Dr Sophie Carter, for her invaluable advice, time, guidance and patience throughout the duration of my MRes. In particularly, I am thankful for you agreeing to supervise me and agreeing to take me on as an MRes student, in addition to the many responsibilities and roles you already have at the university. The extra mile you not only go for me but for all your students is quite apparent whether it is writing a reference letter, agreeing to meet on short notice, or actively searching for research funding opportunities. I also want to thank you for allowing me to conduct a study surrounding a potential ergogenic aid in soccer players, a key interest I have had since day one. I am thankful for all the training you have given me in the lab alongside all the academic writing guidance you have given me, because without either of key lessons, the completion of this thesis is not possible. I am forever grateful for the advice you have passed along to me, whether it was regarding applications for PhD's or getting more accustomed to life in the UK, it has all helped a lot. I will always cherish and appreciate the conversations we had in the lab as well as our student-supervisor relationship. I am so thankful for the endless support from you on this thesis but also for the continuous support and encouragement outside of the lab.

Chris and Nelly; Coaches at i2i International Soccer Academy

I want to thank my coaches, Chris and Nelly. The advice you both have given me not only on the field but off the field as well has helped me grow as an individual. I know I can come to either of

ii

you with a problem and you will try and do your absolute best to help me in any way possible. The life lessons you have taught me this past year have proven to be invaluable and I cannot thank you guys enough.

Anna and Matt; Laboratory Technician Team

I am thankful for Anna and Matt, the laboratory technicians at the university. The kindness and willingness to help that the both of you endure does not go unnoticed. I am thankful for the help that both of you gave me with regards to the lab equipment and freeing up lab availability throughout the duration of this thesis.

i2i Orange Team

I am very grateful for the players on i2i Orange, my teammates. The support every one of my teammates gave me whilst completing this thesis is something that will never go unnoticed. In addition to this, I am lucky to have called myself a member of this team and am thankful for how much every one of my teammates pushed me on and off the field which has led me to strive to be the best possible version of myself.

Mom and Dad

I am deeply grateful for my mom and dad, Jo and Swen Shannon. It is not always easy being away from your parents at university, but the support I receive from both never changes. I feel so lucky to be supported in what I want to do. Specifically, this past year, having the support from both of you to continue studying for an MRes and encouraging me to continue playing soccer full-time is something I will cherish forever, and I will never be able to thank you enough.

Hyacinthe

I want to extend my sincere thanks to my aunt, Hyacinthe. The support you have given me not only this year but since I began my high-school and undergraduate studies has helped tremendously. I know I can always come to you for help with anything, whether it is to proofread a piece of writing or if I need an opinion on something. I can always count on you to give me a thoughtful and unbiased answer/review.

Erik and Sarah

I want to thank my siblings, Erik and Sarah. It is not always easy being in different places throughout the year, but the support I receive from both of you helps remarkably. I can only hope I can offer a fraction of the support you give me to the both of you.

Emma

A very special thanks to my partner, Emma. I met you right as I was beginning the data collection phase of my MRes, and your support has been ever so clear since. Your interest, your readiness to listen, and the offering of constructive advice you have given me along the way has helped immensely and I promise it will never be overlooked. I consider myself very lucky to have met you, and I am so thankful for your encouragement and help throughout the completion of every aspect of this thesis.

Research Participants

You know who you are. Without each one of the participants in this thesis, it goes without saying that this thesis would not be possible to complete. I am so thankful for the cooperation each participant showed, their ability to show up to the lab on time consistently, and the ability to come to the lab in the early mornings. I know firsthand that none of this is easy when

iv

balancing a full-time university undergraduate/postgraduate schedule with a full-time soccer academy timetable. For this, I am extremely thankful.

Abstract

Introduction: Ischemic preconditioning (IPC), brief periods of ischemia immediately followed by reperfusion applied to a vascular bed, has emerged as a method to improve athletic performance across various types of exercise (aerobic and anaerobic). Although there has been a great deal of literature investigating IPC on exercise performance, there is a lack of focus on the effect of repeated episodes of IPC along with measuring anaerobic performance via repeated sprint ability (RSA). IPC has been reported to improve blood flow and enhance endothelial function, which could be mechanisms to explain enhanced RSA performance. The aim of this thesis was to: 1) determine if a 2-week repeated IPC intervention could enhance anaerobic performance in RSA in non-elite soccer players; 2) assess whether improvements in endothelial function is a mechanism explaining any performance enhancement. Methods: Using a randomised, single-blinded crossover design, 8 non-elite male academy soccer players completed two, 2-week intervention trials: six IPC episodes (4 x 5 mins at 220mmHg per episode), and six SHAM episodes (4 x 5 mins at 20mmHg per episode). Prior to and following each intervention trial, participants completed assessments of anaerobic performance (Running Anaerobic Sprint Test [RAST]), and femoral artery endothelial function (flow-mediated dilation [FMD]). Results: IPC significantly enhanced peak power output (PPO) in the RAST by 11.30% (p=0.010) and significantly increased femoral artery FMD by 1.72% (p=0.018). Discussion: A 2-week repeated IPC intervention can improve anaerobic performance by means of increased PPO during repeated sprints. The increase in endothelial function following the repeated IPC intervention suggests this may be a mechanism contributing to this enhancement of anaerobic performance. Conclusion: The present study supports the use of repeated IPC prior to matches and training sessions in order to enhance

anaerobic performance and encourages coaches to implement the cost-effective method into their teams' daily schedule.

Table of Contents

Acknowl	edgements	ii
Abstract		vi
List of Fig	gures	x
List of Ta	ıbles	xi
Abbrevia	ntions	xii
1.0 Li	iterature Review	14
1.1	Introduction	15
1.2	Ischemia	16
1.3	Ischemic Preconditioning (IPC)	17
1.4	IPC and Exercise Performance	21
1.4.1	IPC and Aerobic Exercise Performance	
1.4.2	PC and Anaerobic Exercise Performance	
1.4.3	B IPC and Sport-Specific Performance	
1.4.4	IPC and Resistance Exercise Performance	
4 6	Detential Machaniana Underlaine IDC Deufermennes Denefite	22
1.5	Potential Mechanisms Underlying IPC Performance Benefits	
1.5.1	Metabolic Factors	
1.5.2	2 Vascular Factors	
1.5.3	3 Cardiovascular Function	
1.5.4	IPC and Perception of Effort	
1.6	IPC and Protocol Methodology	39
1.6.1	Remote or Local IPC	
1.6.2	2 Timing of IPC	
1.6.3	8 Repeated IPC	
1.7	Sex and Age Effect on IPC	48
1.8	Future Research on IPC	
1.9	Summary	
2.0 T	he Effect of a 2-Week Ischemic Preconditioning Intervention on Anaerobic	
Perform	ance in Non-Elite Male Soccer Players	52
2.1	Introduction	53
2.2	Methods	58
2.2.1	Participants	
222	P Ethical Approval	58
2.2.2	Experimental Design	50
2.2.3	Laboratory Testing Visits	55 61
2.2.4	Treatment Vicits	۲U
2.2.3	Mascuramente	دع دع
2.2.0	261 Demographics	
2.	2.0.2 Sieep	
2.	.2.6.3 Anthropometrics	64

Running-Based Anaerohic Sprint Test Performance	
Running-Based Anaerobic Sprint Test Performance	
Femoral Artery Flow-Mediated Dilation	
Sleep	
Training Load	77
Discussion	80
Limitations	
Future Directions	
Practical Applications	
Practical Applications	
	.6.5 Femoral Artery Endothelial Function .6.6 Femoral Artery Endothelial Function Data Analysis .6.7 Running-Based Anaerobic Sprint Test (RAST) .6.8 Blood Lactate .6.9 Heart Rate .5 Statistical Analyses Results Descriptive Statistics Physiological Measurements at Rest Running-Based Anaerobic Sprint Test Performance Femoral Artery Flow-Mediated Dilation Sleep Training Load Discussion

List of Figures

Figure 1: Schematic of Experimental Study Design
Figure 2: A model of a a) SHAM (4 x 5 mins at 20 mmHg), or b) ischemic preconditioning (IPC; 4 x 5 mins at 220 mmHg) treatment session
Figure 3: A model of the FMD (Flow-Mediated Dilation) protocol on the left femoral artery with the cuff placed just above the patella (inflated to 220 mmHg for 5 mins) to image the femoral artery during cuff inflation and deflation
Figure 4: A model of the three different phases of (Baseline, Ischemia and Vasodilation) throughout the duration of the flow-mediated dilation (FMD) assessment and the typical arterial diameter response
Figure 5: A Model of the RAST (Running-Based Anaerobic Sprint Test) testing set-up (6 x 35m sprints followed by 10s of rest) with electronic timing gates at each end

List of Tables

Table 1: Descriptive characteristics (n=8)	73
Table 2: Resting physiological measurements taken before (PRE) and after (POST) the completion of the ischemic preconditioning (IPC) and SHAM-controlled (SHAM) trials (Mean±SD).	74
Table 3: Running-Based Anaerobic Sprint Test performance before (PRE) and after (POST) the completion of the ischemic preconditioning (IPC) and SHAM-controlled (SHAM) trials (Mean±SD).	76
Table 4: Femoral artery flow-mediated dilation (FMD) before (PRE) and after (POST) th completion of the ischemic preconditioning (IPC) and SHAM-controlled (SHAM) trials (Mean±SD).	e 78
Table 5: Measures of sleep before (PRE) and after (POST) the completion of the ischem preconditioning (IPC) and SHAM-controlled (SHAM) trials (Mean±SD)	nic 78
Table 6: Training load assessed using session-RPE before (PRE) and after (POST) the completion of the ischemic preconditioning (IPC) and SHAM-controlled (SHAM) trials (Mean±SD).	79

Abbreviations

IPC **Ischemic Preconditioning** RIPC **Remote Ischemic Preconditioning Ischemic Reperfusion Injury** IR-Injury PPO Peak Power Output MPO Mean Power Output BLA Blood Lactate FMD **Flow-Mediated Dilation** ROS **Reactive Oxidative Species Total Exercise Time** TET ΤW Total Work Maximal Power Output **W**MAX Wingate Anaerobic Test WAnT RAST **Running Anaerobic Sprint Test** RSA **Repeated Sprint Ability** PCr Phosphocreatine ATP Adenosine Triphosphate Interclass Correlation Coefficient ICC CoV **Coefficient of Variation** РКС **Protein Kinase C** RIP IPC at Rest

- EIP IPC following Exercise
- RPE Rating of Perceived Exertion
- EMG Electromyogram
- sEMG Surface Electromyogram
- ECG Electrocardiogram
- SpO₂ Oxygen Saturation
- PaO₂ Arterial Pressure of Oxygen
- SJFT Special Judo Fitness Test
- RE Resistance Exercise
- MVC Maximal Voluntary Contraction
- NIRS Near Infrared Spectroscopy
- APD Action Potential Duration
- TTE Time To Exhaustion
- RTD Rate of Force Development
- MDF Mean Frequency of Power
- ICC Interclass Correlation Coefficient

1.0 Literature Review

1.1 Introduction

In sport, as the competition gets stronger, the narrower the margins become for errors and success (Ntoumanis et al. 2014). In addition to this, athletes are always actively searching for ways their performance can be maximised to ensure they are consistently at their peak. An attractive method of searching for opportunities to enhance performance are by means of adopting certain ergogenic aids. An ergogenic aid is defined as a physical, mechanical, nutritional, psychological, or a pharmalogical item or treatment that has the potential to precisely improve performance by bettering the physiological variables in which are associated with performance (Bala and Bhalla 2022). An ergogenic aid can remove subjective restraints that may hinder the physiological capacity of the athlete (Bala and Bhalla 2022). A popular type of ergogenic aid athletes tend to utilise are nutritional ergogenic aids where the athlete consumes a substance knowing it contains a nutritional element that can enhance performance (Kerksick et al. 2018). However, when using a nutritional supplement, it is important to be aware of the risks associated with ingesting it. Therefore, athletes need to be extra cautious of the potential side effects when considering the use of certain nutritional supplements, in addition to consulting with a physician to determine if any concealed medical issues exist that may contradict the supplement's use (Gonzalez et al. 2022). Therefore, with some risk or restrictions associated with nutritional ergogenic aids, it is worthwhile exploring an ergogenic aid that does not demand the ingestion of a nutritional supplement.

Ischemic Preconditioning (IPC) consists of harmless periods of ischemia followed by periods of reperfusion to an organ or a limb to activate defensive mechanisms against ischemic-reperfusion

15

injury (IR injury). First used as a clinical method, IPC has recently (>12 years) been deemed as an ergogenic aid for athletes competing in various levels of sport (Caru et al. 2019). The mechanisms found for protecting IR-injury from a clinical standpoint were thought to elicit similar rewards in exercise performance. The mechanisms that IPC provides include protecting the skeletal muscle from IR-injury, enhancing oxidative capacity throughout the lengthened period of ischemia, improving blood-flow following ischemia, and enhancing muscle function following both ischemia and reperfusion (Lintz et al. 2013; Pang et al. 1995; Addison et al. 2003). Although these mechanisms have been supported in clinical research, there is still lack of research determining if the underlying mechanisms observed from the clinical benefits of IPC can be replicated in exercise performance. Consequently, the overarching aim of this thesis is to investigate the effects of IPC on exercise performance and to explore potential physiological mechanisms. Existing research exploring IPC and exercise performance and the potential physiological mechanisms.

1.2 Ischemia

Generally, a cause of hypoxia, or the lack of oxygen in cells and tissue can happen in various ways, and ischemia is one of them (Kaur, Foulds and Ling 2008). Ischo- refers to either "restraint" or "suppression", and -emia refers to the blood. Therefore, ischemia is a type of suppression or a reduction of blood flow to a specific organ or tissue. Furthermore, the reduction in blood flow also decreases the amount of oxygen to the suppressed cells due to the lowered amount of blood flow in the blood vessels perfusing the tissue. This depleted amount of oxygen diminishes the capability for oxidative adenosine triphosphate (ATP) energy production, which can lead to cell death (Cho et al. 1997). The term ischemia, in a clinical context with regards to the heart, is referred to as a period of reduced blood flow which in turn results in an insufficient amount of oxygen delivered to the myocardium (Kloner 2009; Wang, Baynosa and Zamboni 2011). Clinically, a familiar cause of ischemia is a buildup of fatty plaque inside systematic arteries, which is known as atherosclerosis (Pepine 2009). Atherosclerosis can affect most systematic arteries, but the coronary arteries are particularly susceptible (Frangos, Gahtan and Sumpio 1999), which ultimately limits the amount of blood flow perfusing cardiac muscle (Pepine 2009). Additionally, even if it is a minor or partial blockage of a coronary artery, ischemia can be present and, if a coronary artery becomes severely or completely blocked, ischemia can become serious enough to result in myocardial infarction (Eltzschig and Eckle 2011). Myocardial infarction, otherwise known as a heart attack, is a leading cause of death worldwide (Thygesen, Alpert and White 2007; Anderson and Morrow 2017). Although ischemia can occur at any time, cardiac tissue is especially vulnerable to ischemia during physical activity when the oxygen requirements for the heart are increased (Parker et al. 1994). Despite the risks of cell death associated with ischemia, applying significant occlusion to certain tissues causing ischemia followed by periods of reperfusion, otherwise known as ischemic preconditioning (IPC), has emerged as an approach to enhance cardioprotective effects.

1.3 Ischemic Preconditioning (IPC)

An intervention which consists of succinct periods of ischemia which is immediately followed by reperfusion is known as ischemic preconditioning (IPC) (Murry et al. 1986). Whilst ischemia causes an insufficient amount of blood supply to the organs and tissues, the following period of reperfusion, enables the restoration of perfusion and reoxygenation in the specific organ that is

being preconditioned (Hausenloy and Yellon 2012). IPC was first designed and utilised as a clinical method to protect canine myocardium from myocardial infarction (Murry et al. 1986). Murry et al. (1986) discovered in an animal model that four continuous periods of coronary occlusion consisting of 5 minutes per period had the ability to lower infarct size by as much as 75% when the myocardium was then subjected to a sustained bout of ischemia. Evidence of cardioprotective effects following IPC has since been shown in many follow-up studies (Pilcher et al. 2012). Furthermore, whilst originally the clinical benefits of IPC were only applicable to the myocardium, shortly after Murry et al. (1986) discovered the reduction of infarct size, it is now evident that IPC can protect other organs such as the brain, the small intestine, and post-ischemic skeletal muscle (Candilio, Malik and Hausenloy 2013).

IPC has also shown protective effects against (IR-injury) (Tapuria et al. 2008). IR-injury is referred to as a paradoxical exacerbation of cellular death following the restoration of blood flow to the tissues in which they were previously ischemic (Fitridge and Thompson 2011). Although the revival of blood flow is essential to be able to restore the ischemic tissues, reperfusion can be detrimental and can cause additional damage to the organ, which can further threaten the life of the organ (Fitridge and Thompson 2011). IR-injury can occur in many organs such as the heart, skeletal muscle, the brain, the kidney, the gut, and the lung (Fitridge and Thompson 2011). Despite IR-Injury occurring in a single organ, it can have a lasting effect on other organs, causing damage to the surrounding organs that are trying to tolerate IR-injury, resulting in multi-system organ failure (Fitridge and Thompson 2011). IR-injury however is not only derived by myocardial infarction but can be triggered by stroke and other conditions that are provoked by the lack of blood supply by tissues and organs (Veighey and MacAllister 2012). Following the duration of ischemia, the period of restoration of blood flow which occurs drives the activation of macrophages in the vasculature and causes a creation of superoxide radicals, also referred to as reactive oxidative species (ROS), which is a main cause of oxidative stress (Tapuria et al. 2008). IPC has been found to reduce IR-injury (Peralta et al. 1996), which is partially due to the brief application of ischemia to the target organ followed by the periods of reperfusion, resulting in strength to the subsequent bouts of ischemia (Tapuria et al. 2008). Additionally, the ischemic strength is achieved by a regulation of endothelial function, blood flow, and decreased macrophage activation (Tapuria et al. 2008). In addition to this, IPC also decreases endothelial injury also leading to a reduced parenchymal injury (Tapuria et al. 2008). Although there are clinical benefits of IPC that lead to a reduced risk of IR-injury, there are significant disadvantages to the protocol. A main disadvantage of IPC that has limited its clinical application is regarding the direct stress towards the organ in which IPC causes, coupled with mechanical trauma to the vasculature structures (Tapuria et al. 2008).

In addition to the early findings of the benefits IPC has to offer clinically (Murry et al. 1986), it was also later discovered that IPC can protect tissues remote to the tissue exposed to the IPC treatment, which is often referred to as remote ischemic preconditioning (RIPC) (Przyklenk et al. 1993). RIPC has been established as a method to provoke endogenous protection methods by increasing ischemic tolerance to lower damage initiated by severe ischemia to non-ischemic organs and tissue (Lv et al. 2020). Furthermore, RIPC has also been found to alleviate reperfusioninjury by restricting apoptosis correlated with ischemic stroke by the means of an endogenous mitochondrial pathway (Lv et al. 2020).

The mechanisms underlying the clinical benefits of IPC vary and remain uncertain (Chen et al. 2001). Across all human organs, the beneficial effects of IPC likely involve an activation of adenosine A_1 receptors (Ishida et al. 1997). The activation of A_1 receptors induces a decrease in the rate of metabolism, which enables the cells to manage noxious stimuli (Cunha 2005). Furthermore, A₁ receptors are believed to enhance the translocation and activation of specific isoforms of protein kinase C (PKC) which subsequently phosphorylate as unidentified cellular effector molecules (Ishida et al. 1997). Evidence supporting the activation of adenosine A_1 receptors is observed as, in a rabbit heart, the beneficial preconditioning effects were blocked by administrating nonselective adenosine receptor antagonists during the preconditioning and the prolonged ischemia periods (Walker and Yellon 1992; Lawson and Downey 1993). In addition to the A_1 receptors, in the heart, it has been established that ATP-sensitive potassium channels can represent important effectors of the preconditioning event (Pell et al. 1998), and display evidence that they may be linked to the A₁ receptors. In support of this link, a cardioprotective effect afforded by A₁ receptor stimulation was disregarded by ATP-sensitive potassium channel antagonists in animal models of infarction (Grover, Sleph and Dzwonczyk 1992). Pre-existing literature derived from animal studies have found that IPC can improve muscle blood flow by means of increases in ATP-sensitive potassium channels (Riksen, Smits and Rongen 2004). The increase in blood flow has enabled oxygen delivery to be enhanced and has also allowed for a greater amount of lactate to be removed (Kimura et al. 2007; Cooper and Brown 2008).

Overall, there is significant evidence regarding IPC's clinical role, including its positive influence on cardioprotection and on other organs. The benefits observed in a clinical setting have consequently led to IPC being considered as an ergogenic aid for exercise performance

1.4 IPC and Exercise Performance

Although IPC has been utilised as a clinical method to protect certain organs and delay cell injury (Tapuria et al. 2008), its reported mechanisms such as improving blood flow and endothelial function are also components that can lead to enhanced exercise performance (de Groot et al. 2010). In addition to the findings of IPC enhancing the vasculature, IPC has also improved muscle function and metabolism (Lawson and Downey 1993; Pang et al. 1995), which lead to further belief that these improvements can translate to benefits in exercise performance.

IPC has been investigated acutely and chronically to explore its impact on various aspects of exercise performance, including exercise tasks that involve aerobic and anaerobic capacity, and tasks that comprise of strength and resistance exercise (Caru et al. 2019). In addition to assessing exercise performance following application of IPC, there has also been research investigating the effects of IPC on recovery methods following exercise. Although recovery is not a direct form of measuring performance, enhanced recovery needs to be considered because it is an essential requirement for optimal performance (de Nardi et al. 2011; Soultanakis, Nafpaktiitou and Mandaloufa 2015). Moreover, besides measuring exercise performance following application of IPC in numerous exercise types and intensities, other attributes of research have investigated

specific areas related to IPC such as pressure cuff location, the dose, the possibility of responders and non-responders (Incognito, Burr and Millar 2016; Caru et al. 2019). These aspects are critical to future and on-going research with regards to IPC and exercise performance because they analyse if there are certain thresholds that need to be reached for IPC in order to benefit performance (Ghosh, Standen and Galinanes 2000; Incognito, Burr and Millar 2016). Furthermore, researching the mechanisms and implementing thorough physiological testing of participants is vital because it has potential to identify responders and non-responders to IPC (Incognito, Burr and Millar 2016). Having the ability to realise if certain training populations respond to the application of IPC in a more advantageous way than others is valuable because it increases the impact and usefulness of IPC within certain populations. These topics will be explored in greater detail in the following sections.

1.4.1 IPC and Aerobic Exercise Performance

The first peer-reviewed study to test IPC on athletic performance in healthy individuals found that maximal oxygen uptake and time to exhaustion significantly improved during cycling performance by 3% and 1.6%, respectively, following IPC administration (de Groot et al. 2010). Since de Groot and colleagues' findings, there have been over 20 peer-reviewed studies that have investigated the impact IPC has on aerobic exercise, with over 10 of them finding statistical significance (*p*<0.05) in support of IPC enhancing aerobic exercise performance (Cocking et al. 2018a). A wide range of aerobic exercise intensities have been assessed in these studies and range from, but are not limited to, aerobic moderate domain (<lactate threshold), aerobic heavy domain (> lactate threshold < critical power/velocity), and aerobic severe domain exercise (>

critical power/velocity) (Cocking et al. 2018a). Cycling, running, and swimming are the main types of exercise that have been examined following application of IPC and have displayed significant enhancements in sub-maximal aerobic performance. Additionally, the participants taking part in the IPC and exercise trials are male and female individuals that come from healthy, to recreational, to competitive, to moderately trained and well-trained backgrounds (Cocking et al. 2018a). This demonstrates that IPC has the potential to enhance aerobic exercise performance across various levels of competitive and training statuses and strengthens the rationale for investigating IPC in not just one population, but to continue to explore its ergogenic potential within varied populations.

Shortly after the enhancements in endurance performance were discovered by de Groot et al. (2010), it was later replicated by the work of Crisafulli et al. (2011). It was identified that total exercise time (TET), total work (TW) and maximal power output (W_{MAX}) all significantly improved following the application of IPC, however, it did not improve VO_{2 MAX} amongst the participants (Crisafulli et al. 2011), which contradicted the findings by de Groot et al. (2010). Differences in the IPC protocol adopted may explain this discrepancy. Crisafulli et al. (2011) used an IPC protocol of 3 sets of 5 mins ischemia, with each bout of ischemia followed by 5 mins of reperfusion, due to this protocol having success in the previous study by de Groot et al. (2010). Additionally, the cuff pressure protocol chosen was to add 50 mmHg to the participant's systolic blood pressure (SBP), as opposed to the standard 220 mmHg used by de Groot et al. (2010). Furthermore, Crisafulli et al. (2011) analysed two different methods of IPC; IPC at rest (RIP), and IPC following exercise (EIP). In these conditions, RIP was administered prior to the incremental maximal task,

whereas EIP was conducted after performing a 5-minute exercise at a constant workload that corresponded to 70% of participant's anaerobic threshold (Crisafulli et al. 2011). Nonetheless, the authors found no difference in the capacity to enhance performance between the types of IPC. A potential explanation for the lack of contrast between the two types of IPC was because of the RIP condition was adequate enough to reach the threshold for metabolite accumulation and launch the metabolic overflow that leads to IPC, which appears to proceed independently from total metabolite blood concentration (Crisafulli et al. 2011). Although enhancements in TW, TET, and W_{MAX} were noticeable following both conditions of IPC, the incremental maximal task was informed by participant's time to exhaustion, which is does not have the best within subject reliability in comparison to time trials (Jeukendrup et al. 1996). The work of Crisafulli et al. (2011) highlights the improvements following IPC in comparison to a reference test, however, it lacks the addition of a SHAM treatment group (intervention aimed to mimic as closely to the actual treatment procedure) and lacks the explanation for the cuff pressure for both IPC conditions.

Whilst aiming to look at the effects of IPC on maximal load constant cycling in recreationally active cyclists, Cruz et al. (2015) found an 8.0% improvement in performance and 2.9% increase in peak VO₂. In addition to these findings, it was also identified that the participant's rating of perceived exertion (RPE) was significantly lower (p=0.01) throughout the maximal load constant cycling test following the 4 x 5 cycles of IPC (Cruz et al. 2015). The lower assessment of RPE following the IPC condition suggests that the participants were less exhausted or underwent a delay in exhaustion throughout the exercise task. Furthermore, whilst recording an EMG measurement from the right vastus lateralis, the results revealed a progressive increase of

myoelectrical activity in the muscle (Cruz et al. 2015). A combination of the lower score of RPE throughout and following exercise and an increase of the myoelectrical activity in the vastus lateralis suggests that a reduced sensitivity of body to fatigue levels and rises in central motor output potentially contribute to the benefits of IPC on endurance performance (Cruz et al. 2015).

Further evidence supporting IPC and enhanced aerobic exercise performance was evidenced by the work of Bailey et al. (2012) who discovered that the athlete's blood lactate accumulation following submaximal aerobic exercise was significantly less (*p*<0.05). Lower blood lactate accumulation levels have been historically associated with athletes with faster endurance time trial performances at a submaximal intensity over different levels of athletes including elite and well-trained (Lucia et al. 2004; Lorenzo et al. 2011). This indicates that since IPC provided an enhancement in submaximal aerobic capacity and was associated with reduced blood lactate accumulation levels then it is possible that IPC can be responsible for the lowered blood lactate accumulation levels.

Previous research has also investigated the effect of IPC during endurance performed at various levels of altitude (Paradis-Deschênes, Joanisse and Billaut 2018). At a moderate altitude (2400m above sea level), it was discovered that IPC improved time trial performance amongst male endurance cyclists (Paradis-Deschênes, Joanisse and Billaut 2018). Part of the rationale for testing if IPC had an ergogenic effect at a moderate altitude was due to previous literature citing IPC's benefits when exercise initiates hypoxemia alike a static breath-hold or underwater swimming (Jean-St-Michel et al. 2011). Similar to hypoxemia, training at a moderate altitude allows athletes

25

to encounter hypoxia where they experience a severe lack of oxygen (Paradis-Deschênes, Joanisse and Billaut 2018). When training at a moderate altitude, athletes can experience a negative impact on their endurance performance due to the obstruction of O₂ diffusion, whether that is at the level of the alveoli or the microvasculature (Chapman, Laymon and Levine 2013). Implementing IPC was thought to be able to enhance the oxidative response to exercise training at hypoxia and mitigate the decline in SpO₂ (oxygen saturation) which is usually observed at moderate altitude (Paradis-Deschênes, Joanisse and Billaut 2018). Additionally, the mechanisms for IPC enhancing the oxidative response and leading to better performance are products of initiating the acceleration of muscle deoxygenation dynamics (Kido et al. 2015) and increasing the peripheral O₂ extraction (Paradis-Deschênes, Joanisse and Billaut 2016). The data and reasoning behind the mechanisms of IPC at moderate altitude further demonstrate that implementing IPC prior to endurance exercise can offer an ergogenic effect.

Although, enhancements have been plentiful following application of IPC prior to endurance exercise performance (Caru et al. 2019), the different modes of endurance exercise explored may explain in part why improvements in performance are not always observed (Montoye et al. 2020). For example, IPC provided no benefit to running time trial performance in recreational athletes (Montoye et al. 2020) or well-trained runners (Tocco et al. 2015; Slysz and Burr 2019). The mechanics between running and cycling are very different from each other. Cycling is largely dependent on the muscles of the quadriceps, as opposed to running, where its dependencies lie on leg muscles, core, and arm muscles (Millet, Vleck and Bentley 2009). As a result, due to optimal running performance requiring a greater ratio of musculature between different muscle groups, and cycling predominantly demanding effort from the quadriceps, the lack of significant benefit from IPC on endurance running performance may be a product of mode of exercise being studied.

As has been discussed, a range of literature has found performance enhancing effects from IPC on aerobic exercise performance. Research has sought to extend this work to assess if these improvements in performance are observed at other exercise intensities, such as anaerobic exercise performance.

1.4.2 IPC and Anaerobic Exercise Performance

Whilst previous studies have investigated the potential for enhancement of IPC on aerobic performance, however, very few studies have analysed the benefits of IPC on anaerobic performance, and within these studies, conflicting results have been observed (Horiuchi 2017).

Enhanced performance following IPC has been observed in sprint swimming. Remote IPC (RIPC) improved maximal swim time for 100m male and female National Level swimmers (Jean-St-Michel et al. 2011). During swimming, the adopted breathing cycle results in breath holding, which can lead to significant decreases in arterial pressure of oxygen (PaO₂), resulting in exercise-induced arterial hypoxemia and decreased blood pH (Jean-St-Michel et al. 2011). The exercise-induced arterial hypoxemia could potentially be a key contributor of the development of fatigue in the respiratory, skeletal and cardiac muscles which are responsible for weakened performance in maximal swimming performance (Noakes 2000; Jean-St-Michel et al. 2011). RIPC was able to

render the tissues more resistant to the detrimental metabolic effects of high-intensity exercise, similar to tissue responses to clinical ischemia (Jean-St-Michel et al. 2011).

Research exploring shorter anaerobic efforts has also observed performance enhancements. For example, in three 50m swimming sprint trials, IPC positioned bilaterally to the thigh and unilaterally to the arms significantly improved performance 2- and 8-hours following administration (Lisbôa et al. 2017). Alternatively, in a study investigating IPC in healthy athletes, no significant improvements in alactic anaerobic performance (6 seconds of effort) and Wingate test performance were observed (Lalonde and Curnier 2015). Differences between the IPC methodologies adopted may explain these contradictory findings. Lalonde and Curnier (2015) investigated RIPC on the participant's non-exercising arms using a cuff inflation pressure of 50 mmHg above systolic blood pressure, whereas Lisbôa et al. (2017) analysed local IPC using a 220mmHg cuff inflation protocol. In addition, the timing of IPC prior to exercise differed. Lisbôa et al. (2017) assessed 50m swimming performance at 1h, 2h, and 8h after IPC, while Lalonde and Curnier (2015) only tested anaerobic performance once immediately following the RIPC intervention. Additionally, the only time where performance was not enhanced in the 50m swimming trial was 1h following local IPC (Lisbôa et al. 2017), which can be deemed similar to Lalonde and Curnier (2015) as they measured Wingate Test performance at a similar time period following the RIPC intervention and found no significant enhancement. The time dependency of IPC application supports meta-analytical data which observed that for anaerobic performance, the longer the time between the application of IPC and the exercise test, the greater the

performance benefit (Salvador et al. 2016). The influence of the timing of IPC on exercise performance is discussed in more detail in Section 1.6.2.

In addition to the timing of application, the frequency of IPC may also influence performance outcomes. Studies adopted one application of IPC and assessed performance in multiple bouts of the 30-second Wingate test and repeated sprint test ability, yet no significant performance enhancement was observed (Lalonde and Curnier 2015; Gibson et al. 2013, 2015; Gürses, Akgül and Baydil 2017; Thompson et al. 2018; Baydil 2020). Therefore, as opposed to just administering IPC on the day or prior to measuring anaerobic performance, it may be necessary to administer repeated sessions of IPC in multiple days leading up to a measurement of anaerobic performance. In support, 7 days of IPC significantly increased peak power output, average power output, and fatigue index amongst recreationally active cyclists (Lindsay et al. 2018). The influence of repeated IPC application and exercise performance is discussed in more detail in Section 1.6.3.

Overall, IPC has the potential to enhance anaerobic performance. In support, a recent metaanalysis observed a small beneficial effect (effect size 0.23) on anaerobic performance following application of IPC (Salvador et al. 2016). However, compared to aerobic exercise, less research has explored this exercise intensity, therefore future research is needed considering the protocol of IPC used and different types of anaerobic exercise performance.

1.4.3 IPC and Sport-Specific Performance

Acknowledging if IPC can improve sport-specific performance is important because it enhances the practicality of utilising the potential ergogenic aid. However, there have been very few studies that have explored IPC's effect on sport-specific exercise performance tasks. Recently, it was found that acute IPC significantly improved judo athlete's performance in the Special Judo Fitness Test (SJFT) in comparison to a SHAM condition (Ribeiro et al. 2019). In addition to analysing judo performance, research has also investigated its effect on rowing performance. The repeated application of IPC at two separate times in the same day improved 1000m rowing time trial performance, suggesting that IPC can be utilised in rowing tournament formats where there may be gaps in between events (Halley et al. 2020). Employing IPC in a tournament format where more than one event/race take place highlights its potential real-world applicability. It was also investigated if 2000m rowing performance could be improved by IPC, however, performance was not enhanced (Turnes et al. 2018). This could be due to the IPC methodology utilised, as 3 cycles of IPC were administered lasting for 5- and 10-min periods, therefore only allowing for very short periods of ischemia-reperfusion to take place per cycle, which may not have been sufficient to be effective (Turnes et al. 2018). Moreover, IPC has been explored as a method to enhance speed skating performance (2x 1000m time trial), but no improvement on self-paced performance was observed (Richard and Billaut 2018). However, IPC was found to attenuate tissue saturation index, and could perhaps be linked to a greater amount O₂ extraction (Caru et al. 2019; Richard and Billaut 2018).

Being able to administer IPC in applied sporting environments, such as prior to an exercise task is important because it increases IPC's practicality, and the likelihood of its translation to being adopted by coaches as a method in their training schedules. It is also important that IPC research considers ecologically valid measures of performance for a range of sports to further increase it applicability. More research is therefore necessary to understand IPC's role in enhancing performance in other forms of sports and exercise tasks.

1.4.4 IPC and Resistance Exercise Performance

The effect of IPC on resistance exercise (RE) performance has received minimal research attention compared to other aspects of performance (i.e., anaerobic and aerobic performance). RE is an appreciated tool for athletes looking to optimise performance, increase muscle mass and strength, and limit the risk of injury (Kraemer, Duncan and Volek 1998). Based on the theories surrounding the potential enhancements IPC provides in ATP production by glycolytic and phosphogenic pathways, it is appropriate to assume that IPC may be able to enhance RE performance due to its dependence on these energy pathways (Marocolo et al. 2016a). Recently, it was found that in comparison to a control condition, 5-days of repeated IPC using of high and low inflation pressures significantly enhanced the number of repetitions and total workload completed (de Souza et al. 2019). Total workload was defined as the participants completing exercise tasks that were equal to maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) which involved the subjects performing knee extension with hip (100 degrees) and knee (90 degrees) fixed angles (de Souza et al. 2019). An additional mechanism thought to be responsible for the enhancement of RE performance is the possibility of ATP-sparing causing an enhancement in muscle efficiency or bettering the efficiency in excitation-contraction coupling (Pang et al. 1995; Bailey et al. 2012).

Additionally, improvements in muscle performance have been highlighted in both isometric RE (Barbosa et al. 2015; Tanaka et al. 2016; Libonati et al. 1998) and dynamic RE (Paradis-Deschênes, Joanisse and Billaut 2016; Pang et al. 1995; Marocolo et al. 2016a, 2016b).

In addition to increased number of repetitions as a measure of performance, other physiological enhancements such as increased force production, and hemodynamic variables such as greater muscle blood perfusion and increased oxygen consumption following knee extensions have led to greater repeated force capacity as a measure of strengthened performance (Paradis-Deschênes, Joanisse and Billaut 2016). Furthermore, in a recent study analysing performance during an RE training session following acute IPC, both total work and number of repetitions were enhanced (da Silva Novaes et al. 2020). Due to this study analysing RE performance in a training session, the exercises lasted much longer, and they were also focused on multijointed exercises, meaning performance relied more strongly on aerobic capacity (da Silva Novaes et al. 2020). The findings therefore indicate that the improvements in RE exercise performance may have been due to greater blood perfusion at rest and during muscle contraction, which allowed for higher removal of oxygen from circulation (da Silva Novaes et al. 2020). Moreover, in addition to these mechanisms, it has also been theorised that IPC may improve mitochondrial metabolism and is able to reduce neurological inhibition (Andreas et al. 2011; Crisafulli et al. 2011). Inhibition of afferent fibers such as type III and type IV, which are mechanoreceptors and metaboreceptors, caused by endogenous opioids released following IPC can possibly be responsible for improved muscular performance (da Silva Novaes et al. 2020), since reductions in metabolic sensory muscle afferent feedback may restrict the development of muscular fatigue (Crisafulli et al. 2011).

These initial studies exploring IPC and RE show potential for its use as an ergogenic aid. Further research is warranted to investigate this in more detail.

1.5 Potential Mechanisms Underlying IPC Performance Benefits

As mentioned, the mechanisms for IPC influencing performance are unknown and depending on the research methodology adopted, it is not always easy to determine the mechanisms that influence performance improvements mediated by IPC. For example, performance improvements following IPC could perhaps be placebo driven or caused by external factors (Marocolo, Billaut and da Mota 2018). Nonetheless, there are still physiologically driven mechanisms that have been identified as potential influencers of performance increments by IPC that are supported by the results from physiological measurements.

1.5.1 Metabolic Factors

A possible reason for the performance benefits following IPC are the changes in aerobic metabolism during exercise. The finding from Bailey et al. (2012) who discovered an improvement in blood lactate accumulation following cycling time trial performance hints that performance improvements from IPC could be recognised by a metabolic component. Despite a finding that shows improved blood lactate accumulation following a moderate-domain aerobic exercise intensity, it is otherwise difficult to identify improvements and metabolic changes in various other exercise intensities. When the exercise intensity is greater than the lactate threshold, literature has suggested that blood lactate levels are no longer influenced by IPC

(Sabino-Carvalho et al. 2017; Seeger et al. 2017). Also, blood lactate levels show very little effect on an athlete's anaerobic capacity in comparison to submaximal intensities. This questions if blood lactate accumulation can only be improved by IPC if exercise is performed at a certain submaximal intensity.

1.5.2 Vascular Factors

In addition to a metabolic component, blood flow regulation has been investigated as a possible explanation for enhancements in performance following IPC (Cocking et al. 2019). Blood flow regulation allows for the delivery of oxygen to tissues, removal of carbon dioxide and hydrogen ions from the tissues, and the distribution of nutrients including glucose, amino acids, and fatty acids. With regards to exercise, blood flow regulation is vital. When exercising, blood flow regulation allows the distribution of blood to exercising muscles (i.e., legs when running), and permits blood flow to be reduced in other non-exercising organs (Limberg et al. 2010). When there is a requirement for intense exercise, there is a metabolic need for oxygen in the skeletal muscle to increase over the resting value. Therefore, in order to accommodate this oxygen demand, blood flow to the contracting muscle must increase. The blood flow in the exercising muscles also induces vasodilation which supports greater amount of blood flow to enter the exercising muscle (Segal 2005). In addition, vasodilation also allows for an increase in nutrient delivery, which contributes to greater energy production within the muscles, and it improves the removal of lactic acid, a key contributor of muscle fatigue.
In recent literature investigating the effect of IPC on athletic performance, many studies have found that following IPC results in an increase of arterial vasodilation when exercising compared to a control or SHAM condition (Paradis-Deschênes, Joanisse and Billaut 2016; Horiuchi, Endo and Thijssen 2015; Grau et al. 2022). The regulation of blood flow is aimed to lower the work required for the heart, whilst also accounting for the necessary amount of oxygen supply for the exercising muscle (Gliemann et al. 2019). Previous studies have used near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) as an index of muscle perfusion capacity to determine if tissue oxygenation is increased following exercise (Cocking et al. 2017). Previously, a study recorded muscle perfusion using NIRS on leg muscles after IPC was administered prior to repeated maximal voluntary knee extensions and identified that perfusion increased both at rest and during exercise, which led to a 12% enhancement in performance (Paradis-Deschênes, Joanisse and Billaut 2016). Also, Horiuchi, Endo and Thijssen (2015) implemented IPC prior to a hand-grip exercise at 10% maximal voluntary contraction (MVC), followed by sympathetic activation by means of a cold-presser test and observed that, in comparison to a control condition, there was a significant increase (4.2%) in oxygenated hemoglobin and myoglobin. This suggests that IPC can alter sympathetic vasoconstriction throughout rest and during moderate intensified exercise, which highlights a potential mechanism in enhancing skeletal muscle function. Additionally, it also suggests that IPC may enhance performance by the means of local oxygen extraction where there is unaltered blood volume following IPC (Horiuchi, Endo and Thijssen 2015). However, there are still limitations associated with NIRS, one being the presence of marked changes in skin blood flow that occur during exercise, which can decrease the accuracy of measurements obtained using NIRS (Cocking et al. 2018a). Further research should be conducted to determine the vascular

mechanisms which are responsible for the enhancement in performance following IPC using additional or alternative measurement techniques.

1.5.3 Cardiovascular Function

IPC has also been discovered to alter an athlete's cardiovascular function. Recent literature has investigated the effect of IPC on cardiac function and have recorded no changes in cardiac biomarkers as a marker of damage or function response post exercise (Cocking et al. 2017). However, Caru et al. (2016) has found evidence of modified electrical activity (QT-shortening) during exercise. The authors implemented unilateral RIPC on each participant's arm and found that following moderate and high-intensity exercise, QT intervals (via use of ECG readings) decreased significantly in comparison to a control condition (Caru et al. 2016). The QT interval is the contraction of the ventricle which lasts from the beginning of the Q wave to the end of the T wave, where it is normally about 35 seconds (Hall and Hall 2020). Although, the QT interval for a given heart rate will still differ, throughout exercise, the QT interval shortens because of exerciseinduced autonomic responses (Lecocq, Lacocq and Jaillon 1989). Throughout exercise, the increase in heart rate induces the shortening of QT intervals, which also mirrors a shortening of action potential duration (APD), which in turn is achieved by IPC stimulating the activation of PKC (Speechly-Dick, Mocanu and Yellon 1994). PKC was identified as a contributor in the mechanism of IPC because it can transduce the protective signal evoked by the triggering of IPC (Ytrehus et al. 1994). Furthermore, when high intensity exercise is performed, it is commonly associated to instantaneous vascular injury, which then leads to reductions in vascular function. Athletes that take part in chronic exercise training have the vascularity of their trained muscles increase in

order to entertain their need for greater blood flow (Hall and Hall 2020). The lesser ability of vascular function could have contradictory impacts on the effectiveness to maintain intense performance, which ultimately weakens the capacity for blood to be delivered the exercising muscles (Cocking et al. 2018a).

IPC has the capability to preserve the vasculature against catastrophic stimuli such as endothelial IR-injury (Kharbanda et al. 2001; van den Munckhof et al. 2013; Seeger et al. 2017). In addition to IPC, regular exercise can also protect against vascular injury in younger individuals due to its preconditioning properties. Furthermore, the work of Bailey et al. (2012) identified that RIPC can prevent a reduction in brachial artery endothelial function (assessed via flow-mediated dilation [FMD]) following strenuous exercise. Bailey et al. (2012) identified an approximate 1.4% decrease in brachial artery endothelial function following strenuous exercise. Therefore, using IPC on the lower limbs prior to strenuous exercise can be vital to performance and health as it prevents an exercise-induced decrease of FMD (Bailey et al. 2012). Additionally, explanations for the decreases in FMD could be possibly due to greater sustained increases in shear during the exercise that can result in damaged nitric oxide biosynthesis due to the deficiency of L-arginine (Dawson et al. 2008). The finding that IPC in the legs can prevent a decrease in brachial artery endothelial function suggests that these effects are systemic as opposed to localised.

1.5.4 IPC and Perception of Effort

Research has identified that IPC has the potential to attenuate RPE. The efforts of ter Beek et al. (2020) found that IPC lowered RPE at 210 W and 245 W, respectively. Additionally, this reduction

in RPE was coupled with an 8.0% improvement in an incremental cycling test, where at the end of the fourth and final minute of the exercise task, RPE was 0.8 units lower in the IPC condition. Furthermore, following the completion of the Wingate test, measures of RPE were 9/10 for the RIPC group, in comparison to 10/10 for the control group (Lalonde and Curnier 2015). Group III and group IV afferent neurons are activated by various forms of exercise which induce metabolites such as lactate, ATP, K⁺, adenosine, inflammatory cytokines and protons (Bangsbo et al. 1993, 2001; Adreani, Hill and Kaufman 1997; Hellsten et al. 1998). The feedback from group III and group IV muscle afferents increases with the onset of exercise, and can affect the key determinants of exercise performance, which include the activation of central and peripheral fatigue (Sidhu et al. 2014; Amann et al. 2015). The metabolic sensitivity of the muscle afferents could be decreased by applying IPC according to the efforts of Incognito et al. (2017). When there is greater sensitivity of the group III and group IV muscle afferents, this can lead to reduced fatigue to the central nervous system (Crisafulli et al. 2011; Cruz et al. 2017). Therefore, the feedback from the thinly myelinated group III and IV muscle afferents can be used to explain the previous examinations of reductions in RPE during exercise. However, in a study specifically analysing the central and peripheral fatiguing mechanisms associated with a maximal effort isokinetic limb exercise, IPC was unable to influence measures of neural activity or peripheral fatigue measurements (Halley, Marshall and Siegler 2019). The findings of Halley, Marshall and Siegler (2019) suggests that the previous evidence of increased sEMG (surface electromyography) in recent literature (Cruz et al. 2015, 2016) may not be associated with neural drive and may be a product of a lack of control for contraction velocity, which may explain the lack of significant findings in their own study. The increase in sEMG activity suggests an increase

in skeletal muscle activation, which then alludes to IPC facilitating greater muscle activity by means of a disruption to the central feedback loop (Cruz et al. 2017). However, due to no changes found in sEMG by Halley, Marshall and Siegler (2019), more research should investigate the role of sEMG and central and peripheral fatigue following IPC.

Although some studies have noticed reductions in perceived exertion in exercise following by means of an IPC condition, other studies have found no differences in RPE between IPC and SHAM/control trials following exercise (Behrens et al. 2020; da Silva Novaes et al. 2020). If IPC can lower the RPE of an exercise task, it could mean that participants experience less fatigue and impairment in exercise performance, which could otherwise lead to an inability to produce a greater force or power output (Hampson et al. 2001). Additional research is required exploring the RPE of exercise tasks following IPC application and to determine the mechanisms explaining the reduction of effort that has been observed.

1.6 IPC and Protocol Methodology

The most advantageous and optimal protocol for carrying out IPC is unknown (Incognito, Burr and Millar 2016; O'Brien and Jacobs 2021). However, IPC is traditionally and has historically been used in 4 sets of 5 minutes of ischemia followed by reperfusion after each set, known as the *classic* dose (Cocking et al. 2019), although, other protocols have been tested. Recently, Cocking et al. (2018b) administered multiple conditions that included a) IPC dose of the *classic* 4 x 5 minutes, b) SHAM, and c) an additional IPC dose that contained 8 sets of 5 minutes. The authors found that the increased number of sets (8 x 5 mins) did not significantly provide any positive enhancement on time trial performance and concluded that extra sets of IPC do not lead to better performance. Furthermore, a bilateral dose of IPC, but not a unilateral dose of IPC, may be more effective in enhancing endurance performance (Cocking et al. 2018b). Similar observations have occurred for anaerobic performance as a bilateral dose of IPC improved sprint cycling performance, whereas this enhancement was unnoticeable using IPC unilaterally (Kraus et al. 2014).

Clinically, it has been discovered that the protective effects of RIPC against brachial artery endothelial IR-injury have been identified to be comparable when the pressure cuffs were applied to the lower limbs and arms whilst being completed three times (Loukogeorgakis et al. 2007). Additionally, a clinical study found that only a single 4-minute occlusion period may be plentiful enough to influence a threshold for ischemic provocation, disregarding the number of preconditioning cycles (Ghosh, Standen and Galinanes 2000). However, recent literature has determined that supplementary cycles (4 x 5 mins) of IPC enhances performance from aerobic to anaerobic capacity (Cocking et al. 2019). Although, there has been little to no research regarding whether shorter sets and a briefer duration of IPC has the same or a greater benefit as the traditional longer sets of IPC. Knowing if a shorter duration of IPC can be administered to athletes on a repeated basis, or only prior to athletic competition is important because it may become a more practical and potential ergogenic aid. For example, da Silva Telles et al. (2020) found that unilateral, 4 x 5 mins of IPC enhanced the number of repetitions in bench press and leg press in comparison to a specific warm-up. However, the authors highlighted that the practicality of these observations remains low. More research should be conducted to determine if reduced lengths of IPC will continue to have the same performance enhancing impact. If the execution of IPC takes less of the athlete's time, it may be more feasible for athletes to use this method. Lastly, there has been no research relating optimal occlusion pressure to use. Most research uses an arbitrary 220 mmHg occlusion pressure; however, some studies have adopted a dose in which the cycle is 30-50 mmHg greater than the participant's resting systolic blood pressure (Lalonde and Curnier 2015; Crisafulli et al. 2011; Caru et al. 2016). It has been shown that occluding 30-50 mmHg above the participant's resting systolic blood pressure can consistently and reliably occlude arterial blood flow in the lower limb (Sharma et al. 2014).

Part of the rationale for researching the optimal dosage of IPC to athletes is because it has been suggested there are responders and non-responders of IPC, meaning that some individuals react to IPC interventions, and some do not (Caru et al. 2019). Being a responder or non-responder to any kind of therapy or treatment is common due to the internal and external factors including the environment where the treatment is conducted, the genetic variation of the individual, and what their medical profile may consist of (Bouchard and Rankinen 2001). There is a great amount of fluctuation of the endothelial, hemostatic, and inflammatory responses to IPC as a method to strengthen performance, and gene expression has been cited as a possible reason to explain this variation (Incognito, Burr and Millar 2016; Caru et al. 2019).

In any potential ergogenic aid, there also lies strong possibility for a placebo/nocebo effect. In a recent review, Incognito, Burr and Millar (2016) note that within the studies including a placebo

group, only 24% found performance enhancements. It is common for reputable IPC peerreviewed articles to include a SHAM-Control group as one of the conditions in a study (Incognito, Burr and Millar 2016; Caru et al. 2019). This condition is essentially applying pressure cuffs to the athlete at a substantially lower pressure (for example: 20 mmHg compared to 220 mmHg for the actual IPC treatment). However, Jean-St-Michel et al. (2011) compared IPC to a SHAM condition (low cuff inflation on the athlete's arm) on elite swimmers' performance and observed that their SHAM condition enhanced performance compared to IPC. This indicates that, in some circumstances, IPC may be placebo driven as opposed to acting an ergogenic aid. Therefore, it remains unclear whether IPC can consistently improve performance amongst athletes.

1.6.1 Remote or Local IPC

There is also speculation regarding the most effective and applicable location for IPC to be applied to the athlete's tissues. Local IPC is where the pressure cuffs are applied to the athlete's exercising limb whereas RIPC is where the cuffs are located on the non-exercising limbs of the body (Incognito, Burr and Millar 2016). In a recent review, only 18 of 81 studies of IPC on exercise performance analysed RIPC (O'Brien and Jacobs 2021). Additionally, only a select few of these studies analysing RIPC on exercise performance found significant enhancements on performance measures. It was discovered that a five-day, low-reflow intervention of RIPC increased peak power when measuring cycling anaerobic performance (Grau et al. 2022). Furthermore, the authors noted that the enhancement in peak power derived from RIPC could be a product of the shear stress during the reperfusion phases inducing the performance enhancing effects (Grau et al. 2022). Shear stress is the frictional force on the vessel lumen as blood flows along the luminal

42

area (Yuan 2019) which functions as a stimulus to enact a signalling cascade that leads to nitric oxide (NO) production and artery dilation (Corretti et al. 2002). Moreover, in a study investigating RIPC in aerobic performance, RIPC increased accumulated oxygen deficit combined with improving time-to-exhaustion (TTE) by 22% in comparison to SHAM (Paull and van Guilder 2019). Also, when investigating lower-body anaerobic performance, bilateral RIPC in the arms significantly enhanced 30-second Wingate Test performance which was recognised by improvements in mean and peak power output (Kraus et al. 2014). In addition to the exercise performance enhancements, clinically, unilateral RIPC has prevented ischemia-reperfusion (IR) inducing endothelial dysfunction in the opposite limb, whilst IR in one arm formed vasodilatory affects in the brachial artery in the opposite arm (Enko et al. 2011; Cheng et al. 2021). The performance enhancements made possible by RIPC may be due to modulating the production of vasoactive substances which include NO and oxygen free radicals, which lower the overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which in turn provides protection against longer periods of ischemia reperfusion (Hausenloy and Yellon 2016; Ferdinandy and Schulz 2003; Grau et al. 2022). Despite the many significant clinical and exercise performance enhancements, in some studies, RIPC has shown no significant improvements in exercise performance (Caru et al. 2016; Cocking et al. 2017; Banks et al. 2016; Zinner, Born and Sperlich 2017). Although, there is evidence that the central humoral, neural, and the systemic ischemic protection combine as assets that lead to potential the benefits of IPC (Paradis-Deschênes, Joanisse and Billaut 2016). This proposes that there may not be an optimal location for IPC, however, there are clear differences between local and remote IPC. Local IPC has been shown to be responsible for muscle deoxygenation responses, whereas this mechanism has not been observed for RIPC (ParadisDeschênes, Joanisse and Billaut 2016). Furthermore, in a systematic review, Salvador et al. (2016) reported that the placement of the pressure cuffs provided no extra benefit or detriment towards performance. Also, in a study directly comparing the performances between local IPC and RIPC, Cocking et al. (2018b) found no differences in cycling time trial performances between the two types of IPC. Additionally, no differences were observed in D1 collegiate basketball player's anaerobic capacity between local IPC and RIPC (Cheng et al. 2021). From the underlying literature, it may be suitable to believe that local IPC and RIPC share very similar benefits in performance. Although, they may have different mechanisms of enhancing performance, despite the different locations of application on the athlete's tissue, both methods of (R)IPC have still shown ergogenic properties. Further research is needed to explore differences in performance between local IPC and RIPC (O'Brien and Jacobs 2021).

1.6.2 Timing of IPC

IPC has been found to be more effective during certain time periods. There are two windows of protection that IPC exerts, an early window of protection and a late window of protection (Hausenloy and Yellon 2009). The first window of protection can last for up to three hours, whereas the late window of protection, otherwise known as the secondary window of protection (SWOP) commences 24 hours following the occlusion and can last up to 72 hours (Hausenloy and Yellon 2009). Administering performance tests following application of IPC should look to be in either of these windows of protection solely because it is reported that this is where IPC treatment is most effective, even if the windows of protection were discovered throughout clinical research, rather than specifically exercise performance (Cocking et al. 2019). Previous

research recommends for a greater amount of time in between the IPC intervention and exercise performance (Salvador et al. 2016). The greater amount of time between the IPC intervention and the subsequent exercise task has shown greater effect sizes with regards to both anaerobic exercise and sprint and power performance (r=0.58, 90% CI-0.28-0.92; r=0.78, 90% CI-0.12-0.98) (Salvador et al. 2016). Therefore, the literature suggests that a minimum time of 45 minutes is required following application of IPC prior to examining exercise performance (Salvador et al. 2016). The necessity for a greater interval between the IPC intervention and the exercise task is needed so metabolite concentrations which IPC administration lowers, can return to an appropriate level (Pang et al. 1995). Specifically, the metabolites in ATP muscle content, PCr, and adenosine nucleotides are all lowered following the IPC intervention (Pang et al. 1995; Sharma et al. 2014). Whilst the metabolites are at a lower concentration level, they can lead to deterioration in performance, especially in anaerobic exercise due to its dependence on the metabolic state (Bogdanis et al. 1996). In addition to the lowering of the metabolites following IPC, it also recognised that there is a minimum time needed for the IPC activators to reach the non-preconditioned tissues (Alkhulaifi, Pugsley and Yellon, 1993). Taking the above factors into account, it is recommended that a minimal time of 45 minutes is utilised between the IPC intervention and the exercise task (Salvador et al. 2016).

Overall, although IPC can enhance performance, considering the interval time between the intervention period and the exercise task is vital to ensure IPC can display its ergogenic aid properties. Future research should look to continue to implement a significant window of time in between IPC and the exercise task.

1.6.3 Repeated IPC

In comparison to a single dose of IPC on healthy subjects, there is very little research exploring administering repeated bouts of IPC, that is IPC applied across several days. Although there is limited research on the method of repeated IPC, it does appear that by using this method a greater dose of IPC can be administered to overcome issues related to a single bout of IPC regarding ensuring the required metabolic threshold to produce a performance enhancing effect is reached (Patterson et al. 2021). Additionally, it is also speculated that the repeated utilisation of IPC across a series of days will enhance changes in skeletal muscle, such as increased skeletal muscle oxidative capacity and microvascular blood flow, in turn enhancing exercise performance (Patterson, Burr and Warmington 2021). Consequently, whilst there have been beneficial effects of a single dose of IPC on athletic performance (Crisafulli et al. 2011; Ferreira et al. 2016), recent literature suggests that future studies should analyse multiple IPC sessions over extended periods of time (Lindsay et al. 2017). The repeated sessions of IPC have been endorsed to ensure a certain metabolic threshold is met to induce the beneficial effects of IPC (Crisafulli et al. 2011; de Groot et al. 2010; Jean-St-Michel et al. 2011).

In contrast to administering IPC via a single dose and utilising the first window of protection or the SWOP, repeated IPC allow for a new cardioprotective window to be induced, which has effects on vasculature and ischemia, like the early and late phases of protection (Jones et al. 2014, 2015). Additionally, episodes of repeated IPC can also lead to a potential overlap of both the early and late phase of protection, which could possibly lead to greater effects with regards to exercise performance (Niespodziński et al. 2021). Furthermore, whilst comparing single dose and repeated exposure to IPC, Depre et al. (2010) identified differences in gene expressions via microarray gene expression analysis. The efforts of Depre et al. (2010) found that in response to coronary blood flow, the key adaptation of gene expression is largely influenced by the repeated aspect of ischemia, as opposed to just being affected by the ischemic stimulus.

In clinical studies, repeated IPC has improved brachial artery endothelial function (Jones et al. 2014, 2015; Luca et al. 2013), blood pressure (Jones et al. 2014), and skeletal muscle oxidative function (Jeffries et al. 2019). Recently, application of IPC over 8 weeks, with participants receiving three episodes of IPC per week, improved endothelial function in just two weeks (Jones et al. 2015). The purpose of trialling IPC over 8 weeks as opposed to acute exposure was to combine the early and late phase of protection to identify potential vascular adaptation, and given the great length of the late phase of protection, less frequent visits over a greater amount of time is arguably more practical (Thijssen et al. 2016). Repeated sessions of IPC have also shown greater increases in vasodilation and sympathetic activation, which can lead to greater oxygen delivery within skeletal muscle tissue, a product of enhanced contractile function (Kimura et al. 2007; Lindsay et al. 2018; Thijssen et al. 2016). Furthermore, the process of repeated IPC can potentially be responsible for the athlete's cell's ability to modulate physiological stress response and more expertly improve performance through oxidative stress-dependent mechanisms (Tu et al. 2015). Consequently, repeated IPC may represent a potential performance-enhancing strategy for exercise performance. Indeed, previous research has discovered that 5 days of bilateral IPC improved oxygen saturation at high altitude (4342m) (Foster et al. 2014). In addition,

7 days of repeated IPC improved O₂ efficiency and microvascular O₂ distribution (Chopra et al. 2022). Finally, improvements in neuromuscular performance via rate of force development (RTD) and median frequency of power (MDF) have been found in a MVC task following 10 days of repeated RIPC (Niespodziński et al. 2021).

Although performance enhancements have been recognised following use of repeated IPC, greater rationale for the number of repeated IPC episodes administered should be researched. Additionally, further research is necessary to investigate the effects of repeated IPC on different forms of aerobic and anaerobic exercise to determine repeated IPC's full performance-enhancing potential.

1.7 Sex and Age Effect on IPC

Currently, there has been very little research conducted surrounding the influence of age and sex on IPC and exercise performance. In fact, in a systematic review, Caru et al. (2019) noted that out of 52 studies on exercise performance included in the review, and 873 healthy participants, only 16.4% of participants were female. Recently, it was noted that potential patterns of responders and non-responders to IPC existed, specifically with female populations obtaining a significantly reduced effect than male populations (Beaven et al. 2012; Gibson et al. 2013). However, more recent research investigating the effect of IPC between male and female team sport athletes observed no difference in responses to IPC between sexes, apart from blood lactate (Gibson et al. 2015). Regarding blood lactate, it was found that the female team sport athletes attained significantly lower blood lactate measures post-exercise, potentially suggesting that this was due to improved blood flow by means of vasodilation (Gibson et al. 2015). Although, this shows there is a contradiction within the literature regarding sex differences and the effects of IPC on exercise performance, it has been widely researched and found in clinical studies that sex and age are dependent factors that influence the benefits of IPC (Heinen et al. 2018). For example, in a clinical study investigating if IPC would improve post-ischemic functional recovery in female mice hearts, it was established that post-ischemic functional recovery was not improved for 10-week-old female mice, however, it significantly improved recovery in 18-week-old female mice (Turcato et al. 2006). It may therefore be important to consider participant characteristics when exploring IPC and exercise performance, due to previous clinical literature citing that the cytoprotective effects are expected to be less in aged, female, and diabetic participants, an indication of perhaps responders and non-responders to IPC (Wever et al. 2015).

1.8 Future Research on IPC

In addition to the lack of research surrounding repeated sessions of IPC on exercise performance, there are also further aspects of IPC that have yet to be thoroughly investigated. Although previous research has regarded IPC as an ergogenic aid for some whilst also providing no athletic benefit for others, more exploration is required to identify the participant phenotype for an IPC responder (Incognito, Burr and Millar 2016). However, it is unclear if a participant phenotype to IPC even exists. This is due to research identifying the lack of valid control groups, decreased statistical power, the potential presence of a placebo effect, and the incapacity to SHAM-control treatments (Marocolo et al. 2015). Therefore, in addition to administering research that ensures that treatment is SHAM-controlled, and a placebo effect is limited, more analysis on a potential participant phenotype is required to classify whether responders and non-responders to IPC exist. Moreover, to increase the practicality of IPC to athletes that participate in different sports, additional research is required to investigate whether shorter periods of IPC have the same performance benefits as the *classic* 4 x 5 method (da Silva Telles et al. 2020). The 4 sets of 5 minutes of IPC with each set followed by 5 minutes of reperfusion is a protocol which lasts for about 40 minutes, where for some sports, implementing that cycle may not be feasible. However, the work of Halley et al. (2020) discovered that implementing the 4 x 5 dose of IPC prior to a 1,000m rowing time trial and doing the exact same prior to a second 1,000m time trial the same day enhances rowing time trial performance. This is important to note because it shows that IPC can be used in sports where there are gaps between events (for example: rowing, athletics, sports that require tournaments/meets). Although, in this study Halley et al. (2020) were still able to use the classic IPC protocol, this may not be feasible due to time restrictions in other sports. Therefore, it is important to identify if shorter protocols carry the same or similar benefits for that matter.

1.9 Summary

This literature review highlights how IPC has developed from a clinical tool to a potential ergogenic aid for exercise performance. To date, research has explored the use of IPC to enhance aerobic, anaerobic, and resistance exercise performance and possible mechanisms for potential performance enhancements have been considered. However, most research has considered aerobic performance. Furthermore, whilst improvements in these exercise domains have been observed, this is not a universal finding. Alongside this, the optimal IPC protocol methodology

has also been considered. There is evidence to suggest that administering repeated IPC prior to exercise may enhance performance to a greater extent than a single dose. Research also indicates that the time between the dose of IPC and the exercise task is important to consider accounting for the different windows of protection that IPC can provide. Whilst some studies have demonstrated enhanced performance using repeated IPC, more research is needed across different types of exercise performance tasks. The next chapter of this thesis will present a primary research study that aims to address some of the knowledge-gaps in the field of IPC and exercise performance.

2.0 The Effect of a 2-Week Ischemic Preconditioning Intervention on Anaerobic Performance in Non-Elite Male Soccer Players

2.1 Introduction

Repeated Sprint Ability (RSA) describes the ability to produce high-intensity, short duration efforts, followed by short (<60 seconds) recovery periods (Bishop, Girard and Mendes-Villaneuva 2011). RSA has been deemed as method for characterising anaerobic performance (Bishop, Girard and Mendes-Villaneuva 2011), with the rise in blood lactate accumulation following RSA tests indicating use of the glycolytic energy pathway (Gliemann et al. 2019). RSA is an important fitness component for team sports, such as soccer (Girard, Mendes-Villaneuva and Bishop 2011). Indeed, enhanced RSA performance has been regarded as a critical determinant of success in soccer (Impellizzeri et al. 2008; Rampinini et al. 2009) and RSA scores can segregate elite from non-elite players (Impellizzeri et al. 2008). Within a soccer match, male elite soccer players will sprint on average 17.2 times (Schimpchen et al. 2016). Furthermore, previous research has shown within a 19-match window, an elite soccer player will complete an average of 35 repeated sprints (minimum of three consecutive sprints with a recovery duration of <30s separating efforts), which corresponds to an average of one repeated bout of sprinting per every 463 minutes of playing time (Schimpchen et al. 2016). The requirement for a high quantity of sprints to be produced in a soccer match highlights the importance of RSA for enhanced player performance. In addition to this, it has been recognised that outfield soccer players are expected to produce and reproduce maximal or close to maximal effort sprints lasting for 1-7 seconds followed by very short recovery times (Girard, Mendez-Villanueva and Bishop 2011; Bishop et al. 2001; Carling, le Gall and Dupont 2012). Moreover, straight-line sprinting has been established as a very frequent action for outfield soccer players to contribute to goal scoring and goal assisting settings (Faude, Koch and Meyer 2012). Given the importance of sprinting with

shortened recovery times on a male soccer player's performance, methods that may enhance this component of fitness are needed. From the research already conducted so far, a possible intervention strategy may be to administer IPC.

IPC can enhance many aspects of sports performance (as outlined in Section 1.4). However, in comparison to aerobic performance, there is less empirical research investigating the effects of IPC on anaerobic performance (Caru et al. 2019). In a recent review, Caru et al. (2019) highlights that out of 25 studies, a total of 8 studies analysing anaerobic performance in some capacity found a performance enhancement (Cruz et al. 2016; Ferreira et al. 2016; Griffin et al. 2018; Kraus et al. 2014; Lalonde and Curnier, 2015; Lindsay et al. 2017; Lisboa et al. 2017; Patterson et al. 2015). However, only three of these studies assessed repeated sprint performance, and two of those studies were investigating performance via swimming (Ferreira et al. 2016; Lisboa et al. 2017). Recently, Cheng et al. (2021) utilised acute IPC with team sports athletes and discovered enhanced anaerobic sprint performance in Division I collegiate basketball players. However, other research using acute IPC intervention and team-sport athletes, including soccer players, has observed no improvements in sprint performance (Gibson et al. 2013). Consequently, whilst previous literature demonstrates improved anaerobic performance following IPC, more research is necessary to investigate the effects in team sports such as soccer.

The application of IPC, in terms of single or repeated dose, may also influence its effectiveness. Although there has been an abundance of research demonstrating significant performance improvements following a single dose of IPC, as discussed, this is still not a universal finding (Caru et al. 2019). The lack of performance improvements following only a single dose of IPC could be a result of low sample size, the potential of non-responders, and failure to meet the metabolic threshold required to induce beneficial effects of IPC (Cocking et al. 2018). Therefore, to ensure a metabolic threshold allowing for physiological enhancements in measurements is met, a loading period of IPC prior to a measurement of performance may be necessary. As mentioned in Section 1.6.3, there is minimal research assessing repeated IPC and exercise performance, however, it has been shown to be a useful ergogenic aid in the few studies that have adopted this treatment method (Lindsay et al. 2017; Foster et al. 2014; Jeffries et al. 2019). Furthermore, repeated IPC can lead to significantly greater performance enhancement compared to studies only implementing a single dose of IPC prior to exercise (de Groot et al. 2010). For example, a single dose of IPC improved aerobic performance by 3% and peak power output by 1.6% (de Groot et al. 2010), whilst 7 days of repeated IPC improved aerobic performance by 9.5% and anaerobic performance by 11% (Lindsay et al. 2017). In addition to this, existing research has shown a 7-day repeated IPC intervention can enhance muscle efficiency throughout cycling by 3.1% and enhance time-to-exhaustion performance by 9% (Jeffries et al. 2019). Despite this, time-to-exhaustion is not the most valid measure of performance due to its poor within-subject reliability in comparison to time trial (Jeukendrup et al. 1996). Additionally, often a 30s Wingate test has been used to assess anaerobic performance, which is less ecologically valid for soccer performance due to the test's inability to be specific to running-based sports (Coppin et al. 2012). Furthermore, recent literature has also analysed a short-term repeated IPC intervention prior to measuring 600m speed skating performance but found no significant improvement following the intervention (Richard and Billaut 2019). However, the authors only applied three IPC sessions

(48h-, 24h-, and 1.5h) prior to measuring performance (Richard and Billaut, 2019), meaning the required metabolic threshold may not have been achieved to allow the intervention to act as an ergogenic aid. Within the existing literature, it is coherent that more research is required to determine an acceptable repeated IPC dose and to involve the assessment of anaerobic capacity which is specific to physiological demands of soccer players.

The mechanisms that may explain the performance-enhancing role of IPC for anaerobic performance are also unclear. Most research analysing repeated IPC has been completed in clinical studies in which improvements have been discovered in endothelial function and microcirculation (Jones et al. 2014, 2015; Luca et al. 2013). IPC may therefore have the capacity to strengthen skeletal muscle blood flow by retaining endothelial function and microvascular function (Kharbanda et al. 2002; Bailey et al. 2012; Loukogeorgakis et al. 2005). The first study to investigate repeated IPC and arterial endothelial function reported that endothelial function was enhanced by means of increases in nitric oxide (Kimura et al. 2007) and nitric oxide is responsible for regulating vasodilation, blood flow and mitochondrial respiration (Besco et al. 2012). As stated in Section 1.5.2, when blood flow to the exercising muscles is improved, it allows vasodilation to be induced which permits greater blood flow to infiltrate into the exercising muscle. It is therefore possible that repeated IPC may enhance anaerobic exercise performance through increased endothelial function and skeletal blood flow during exercise, however this mechanism has not been explored.

Overall, there is a current lack of literature investigating the effect of repeated IPC on exercise performance, especially anaerobic performance, such as RSA. Given the importance of RSA on soccer performance, there is a need to explore this as a possible intervention, and its underlying physiological mechanisms. Therefore, this study aimed to explore if a 2-week repeated IPC intervention could enhance anaerobic performance in RSA in sub-elite soccer players. Additionally, this study assessed whether improvements in endothelial function was a mechanism explaining any performance enhancement. It was hypothesised that the repeated IPC intervention would enhance anaerobic performance, via increases in peak and mean power output, and improve endothelial function.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Participants

Eight, male, full-time soccer academy student-athletes from York St John University and i2i International Soccer Academy were recruited. Sample size was informed by existing research exploring the effect of IPC on exercise performance which recruited between 6 and 8 healthy, trained participants (Foster et al. 2011; Garcia et al. 2017; Birkelund et al. 2015; Kjeld et al. 2014). Inclusion and exclusion criteria were stated clearly in the participant information sheet that was given to all participants who expressed an interest in completing the study. Each participant recruited was an outfield player (no goalkeepers) and was aged between 18 and 24 years. Participants were screened prior to testing using the Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (Warburton et al. 2018) and participants regularly taking medication or diagnosed with a chronic disease were excluded (Lalonde and Curnier 2015). Additionally, any participant with a resting blood pressure that exceeded 140/100 mmHg (systolic/diastolic) (Gibson et al. 2015) or who was recently injured (>2 weeks) was not eligible to take part.

2.2.2 Ethical Approval

Participants were informed of the procedures and requirements for each study in writing and then written informed consent was obtained prior to inclusion. All study procedures were approved by the York St John School of Science, Technology and Health Ethics Committee (RECELP00006) and adhered to the Declaration of Helsinki.

2.2.3 Experimental Design

A randomised, sham-controlled and single-blinded crossover trial design was conducted. Each intervention trial lasted 2-weeks. The participants were randomly allocated to the order they completed trials by the principal researcher using computer-generated random numbers. Prior to beginning the 2-week intervention trial, participants were required to attend the laboratory to obtain anthropometric measurements and baseline measurements of anaerobic performance and endothelial function. Following the baseline measurements, participants were separated into one of the two trial intervention groups: IPC or SHAM-controlled. Throughout the intervention, participants visited the laboratory on six separate occasions within a 2-week time period to receive IPC or SHAM-controlled treatment. A 2-week intervention period was chosen as previous research has shown in healthy, young males, endothelial function increases following six episodes of IPC over a 2-week period (Jones et al. 2015). Additionally, the less frequent number of IPC treatments compared to daily IPC treatments is informed by the timing of the late phase of protection against endothelial ischemia-reperfusion injury that IPC can provide (Jones et al. 2014; Loukogeorgakis et al. 2005). At the end of the two weeks, anaerobic performance and endothelial function measurements were repeated. There was a minimum 7-day washout period before the crossover of the IPC and SHAM-controlled trial intervention groups (Cocking et al. 2017). All laboratory testing and treatment sessions took place at York St John University's Physiology Laboratory and Sports Hall, respectively.



Figure 1: Schematic of Experimental Study Design.

2.2.4 Laboratory Testing Visits

Prior to each laboratory testing visit, participants were asked to complete an overnight fast and to refrain from caffeine and the consumption of alcohol, and to avoid strenuous physical activity for 24 hours (Incognito, Burr and Millar 2016). Additionally, each participant was asked to go to sleep and wake up at a similar time before each trial in order to standardise sleep. To standardise dietary intake, participants recorded the food they ate the day before each visit in a food diary and were asked to keep this the same for subsequent laboratory visits. At the start of Visit 1, participants' height, weight, and resting blood pressure were recorded. Following this, participants rested supine for 20 minutes before endothelial function was assessed via non-invasive vascular ultrasound. Participants then completed the Running-based Anaerobic Sprint Test (RAST) to achieve a baseline measurement of anaerobic performance. After completion of the 2-week intervention, all baseline measurements were repeated.

2.2.5 Treatment Visits

For each treatment visit, participants were required to attend the laboratory for approximately 40 minutes to receive either SHAM-controlled treatment (blood pressure cuffs inflated to 20 mmHg) or IPC treatment (blood pressure cuffs inflated to 220 mmHg). Although, it can be difficult to effectively SHAM-control treatment in human subjects, previous literature recommends that research studies should acknowledge the participants' understanding of the IPC, whilst potentially utilising deception (Incognito, Burr and Millar 2016). Therefore, participants were also not made aware which condition was expected to be performance enhancing. Bilateral occlusion was performed simultaneously on the right and left thighs. Participants lay in the supine position

for all treatments and blood pressure cuffs (20.5-28 cm, M1753A, Phillips, The Netherlands) were positioned on the proximal portion of the thighs. Cuffs were inflated for 5-minutes at the required pressure, using an automatic rapid cuff inflator (Vascular Assessment Pressure Cuff Controller, Moor Instruments, Devon, UK). Four sets of 5-minutes of inflation (4 x 5 mins) were completed. Following each set of 5 minutes, the cuffs were deflated for 5-minutes, before administering another set to allow reperfusion to take place. After the four sets of SHAM/IPC treatment were finished, that concluded one day of treatment. This occlusion/reperfusion protocol has been used in previous studies assessing repeated IPC and sports performance (Cheng et al. 2021; Incognito, Burr and Millar 2016). Three treatments per week were administered for two weeks (Jones et al. 2015). Participants were supervised for each treatment. See Figure 2 for treatment visit model.



Figure 2: A model of a a) SHAM (4 x 5 mins at 20 mmHg), or b) ischemic preconditioning (IPC; 4 x 5 mins at 220 mmHg) treatment session.

During the 2-week treatment period, participants were able to complete their habitual exercise and dietary patterns. Participants were asked to report their training load using a training diary. Participants reported the number of hours they trained each day and rated the intensity of each training session on a 0-10 scale. Training load was then calculated by multiplying the hours of training and the intensity of training. This method based on rating of perceived exertion (RPE) is known as the session-RPE approach and was established by Foster et al. (2001) to quantify highintensity exercise training. Additionally, in a recent study, the session-RPE method was further strengthened by its validity and reliability (session-RPE and repeated bouts, r=0.88) of a subjective measure of exercise training intensity (Herman et al. 2006).

2.2.6 Measurements

2.2.6.1 Demographics

Participants' age, typical training load and years of soccer academy playing experience were recorded. Typical training load was assessed subjectively via the previously described session-RPE method. Session-RPE is related to other objective measures of exercise intensity load suggesting it can be viewed as an acceptable method of recording a participant's training load (Haddad et al. 2017).

2.2.6.2 Sleep

The day prior to each laboratory testing visit, participants' sleep was monitored since sleep has been identified as a crucial factor for optimal athletic performance (Bird 2013). Obtaining the sleep pattern of participants therefore enabled the researcher to account for any differences in performance following both assessments of the RAST that may be explained by changes in sleep. Sleep was assessed via actigraphy, an approach widely used to objectively assess sleep based on movement patterns (Cellini et al. 2013). Compared to the gold standard measure of assessing sleep, polysomnography (PSG), actigraph devices have obtained various agreement rates of sleep and wake epochs ranging from 85-95% (Sadeh 2008). Participants were required to wear an accelerometer (ActiGraph GT3X, Pensacola, Florida) on their non-dominant wrist. Wrist actigraphy achieves a more valid measure of sleep compared to hip actigraphy, in addition to a moderate ability to recognise periods of wake during the time in bed (Slater et al. 2015). In addition, participants completed the Consensus Sleep Diary (Carney et al. 2012) as recommended in conjunction with actigraphy to prevent periods of non-wear time being incorrectly classed as sleep (Sadeh and Acebo, 2002). Participants answered questions relating to bedtime, wake up time, and number of awakenings, which were used to confirm the metrics collected from the accelerometer. Data from the accelerometer were downloaded in 60-s epochs and analysed utilising ActiLife Software (Version 6.13.4) and using the Sadeh algorithm which is validated in a young (10 to 25 years) population (Sadeh et al. 1994). Each night of sleep was analysed for the sleep parameters: time in and out of bed, total sleep time, sleep efficiency, and sleep fragmentation index (Cellini et al. 2013).

2.2.6.3 Anthropometrics

Stature and body mass were recorded on Visit 1. Participants were required to stand as still as possible underneath a stadiometer (SECA, Hamburg, Germany) to obtain a measure of stature, recorded to the nearest 0.1 cm. In minimal clothing and without shoes, body mass was measured

64

to the nearest 0.1 kg using an electronic scale (Tanita BC-543 Body Composition Monitor, Amsterdam, Netherlands). Body mass index (BMI) was subsequently calculated (mass/stature²).

2.2.6.4 Resting Heart Rate and Blood Pressure

Resting heart rate and systolic and diastolic blood pressure were assessed using an oscillometric cuff at the left brachial artery (Carescape V100, Dinamap, GE Healthcare, UK). Measurements were obtained after participants had completed the 20-minute supine rest.

2.2.6.5 Femoral Artery Endothelial Function

Peripheral femoral artery endothelial function was assessed using the standardised flowmediated dilation (FMD) technique, according to published guidelines (Thijssen et al. 2011). Participants laid in a supine position while the test was conducted and was instructed to remain as still as possible during the test. A rapid inflation and deflation pneumatic cuff were positioned on the left thigh, just above the patella. To record an image of the left femoral artery, a 10MHz multi-frequency linear array probe connected to a high-resolution ultrasound machine (T3000; Terason Burlington, MA) was used (Figure 3). Images were captured above the occlusion cuff and distal from the artery bifurcation. In order to obtain the arterial diameters, the ultrasound parameters were adjusted to enhance the B-mode image of the lumen-arterial wall interface. Once a suitable image was detected, the probe was held in this position. Additionally, blood flow was assessed via Doppler ultrasound using the same machine with an insonation angle of 60 degrees. Following a 1-minute baseline, the cuff was inflated to 220 mmHg for 5 minutes to induce local ischemia. After cuff deflation, ultrasound recordings continued for a further 3 minutes. The same procedures were used for each endothelial function assessment. Figure 4 provides an outline of the three phases (baseline, ischemia and vasodilation) of the FMD protocol and the typical arterial diameter response.

2.2.6.6 Femoral Artery Endothelial Function Data Analysis

Data were analysed using Cardiovascular Suite (Version 2.8.1 Software, Quipu, Italy), an automated edge-detection and wall-tracking software. The software tracks the blood vessel walls and blood velocity trace via pixel density and frequency distribution algorithms. The software enables an optimal region of interest (ROI) to be selected from the initial frame of the B-mode and Doppler waveform. For diameter analysis, the ROI was selected based on B-mode image quality and the clear distinction between the artery walls and lumen, whilst for blood velocity analysis, a second ROI was selected to encompass the Doppler waveform. Each frame was analysed, enabling synchronised arterial diameter, blood velocity, blood flow (arterial crosssectional area x blood velocity), and shear rate (SR) data to be acquired. SR (4 x [blood velocity/arterial diameter]) was used as an estimation of shear stress due to the inability to measure blood viscosity.

For the FMD assessment, within the software, each phase of the FMD protocol (baseline, ischemia, cuff deflation) was selected by the researcher. Baseline arterial diameter and blood flow were determined as the mean of the data acquired 1 min prior to cuff inflation. Following cuff deflation, peak arterial diameter was automatically calculated and FMD (%) was calculated as the percentage change in arterial diameter from baseline diameter ([peak arterial diameter-

baseline arterial diameter]/baseline arterial diameter) x 100 %). SR area under the curve (AUC) was automatically calculated from post cuff deflation until the point of peak arterial diameter.



Figure 3: A model of the FMD (Flow-Mediated Dilation) protocol on the left femoral artery with the cuff placed just above the patella (inflated to 220 mmHg for 5 mins) to image the femoral artery during cuff inflation and deflation.



Figure 4: A model of the three different phases of (Baseline, Ischemia and Vasodilation) throughout the duration of the flow-mediated dilation (FMD) assessment and the typical arterial diameter response.

2.2.6.7 Running-Based Anaerobic Sprint Test (RAST)

To determine repeated sprint ability and anaerobic performance, participants completed the Running-based Anaerobic Sprint Test (RAST; Zagatto, Beck and Gobatto, 2009). The RAST, specifically, is a test that has been adopted by coaches and trainers in soccer populations due to the sport's requirements of a continuous high number of repeated sprints (Keir, Riault and Serresse, 2013). Additionally, repeated sprint ability has been recognised as an important physical fitness component for soccer players (Helgerud et al. 2001; Impellizzeri, Rampinini and Marcora 2005; Spencer et al. 2005). The RAST was developed by Wolverhampton University (United Kingdom) and is adapted from the original Wingate Anaerobic Sprint Test (WAnT) to assess anaerobic power (Zagatto, Beck and Gobatto, 2009). The RAST was completed indoors in the University's Sports Barn. Indoor testing was adopted to remove the influence of differential outdoor conditions (e.g., wind, temperature) influencing sprint performance, whereas the conditions in an indoor environment controlled for such variations.

Each participant was required to complete six, maximal effort 35m sprints. Each sprint was separated by 10 seconds of rest before completing the next 35m sprint. The time to complete each sprint was measured by photocell timing gates placed 1.0 m above ground level at the start and end of the 35m distance (Witty System, Microgate, Italy). See Figure 5 for the RAST testing field set-up. Peak power was then calculated for each sprint, calculated as: (body mass x distance²)/time³. Peak power was defined as the greatest power obtained from one of the six sprints, while average peak power was calculated by obtaining the mean peak power value from each of the six sprints. Fatigue index was calculated as: (maximal power - minimum power)/total

time to complete all six sprints. The RAST has shown strong criterion validity for measuring peak power and average power (r=0.70, p<0.001; r=0.60, p<0.01, respectively) (Burgess et al. 2016). Additionally, the RAST has shown strong reliability scores for measuring peak power output and average power output (ICC=0.72; ICC=0.88) (Burgess et al. 2016). During the RAST, heart rate was monitored using a telemetry system with a wireless chest strap (Polar V800, Polar H10 Heart Rate Sensor, Helsinki, Finland). Maximal heart rate at the end of the final sprint was recorded.

Prior to completing the RAST, participants completed the Fédération Internationale de Football Association (FIFA) 11+ warm-up protocol, a warm-up created by FIFA's Medical and Research Centre (F-MARC) as a complete warm-up programme to prevent injuries in amateur soccer players (Bizzini and Dvorak 2015). The warm-up contains a series of dynamic stretches that are specific for soccer players to compete prior to physical exertion to help reduce injuries (Liu et al. 2021).



Figure 5: A Model of the RAST (Running-Based Anaerobic Sprint Test) testing set-up (6 x 35m sprints followed by 10s of rest) with electronic timing gates at each end.
2.2.6.8 Blood Lactate

Blood lactate was drawn at rest and immediately following the completion of the RAST via fingerprick sampling from the participant's non-dominant hand. Following each finger prick, blood lactate was assessed using a portable lactate analyser (Lactate Pro 2 Analyser, Kyoto, Japan), with the sample collected using a lactate test strip obtained at a 90-degree angle from the blood sample. The Lactate Pro 2 analyser has shown strong reliability (CoV=3.3%; ICC=0.99) and showed acceptable levels of construct validity (ICC=0.87) in comparison to the YSI Sport 1500, a laboratory-based blood lactate analyser (Crotty et al. 2021).

2.2.6.9 Heart Rate

Heart rate (V800 GPS Sports Watch and H10 Heart Rate Sensor, Polar, Helsinki, Finland) was recorded at rest and following the culmination of the RAST. The heart rate sensor was attached to a chest strap and placed just beneath the participant's sternum, ensuring skin contact. The Polar H10 Heart Rate Sensor can recognise electrical activity throughout each beat and transfer real time data to the Polar V800 GPS Sports Watch (Mohapatra, Preejith, and Sivaprakasam 2017).

2.2.7 Statistical Analyses

Data were analysed using SPSS Statistics (Version 17, IBM SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA), with significance accepted if p<0.05. Data were assessed for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Data obtained from the RAST (peak power, average power output, fatigue index), blood lactate, heart rate, blood pressure, FMD variables, sleep variables and training load were

analysed using two-way repeated measures ANOVAs. Post-hoc analyses were completed via paired samples t-test with LSD adjustment. Data are presented as mean ± standard deviation (SD), from which, effect sizes (partial eta squared, η^2) were calculated. These were considered as: small (η^2 =0.01), medium (η^2 =0.06), and large (η^2 =0.14) (Cohen, 1988).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Descriptive Statistics

Eight non-elite male academy soccer players completed the study and were included in analyses. Full descriptive characteristics are shown in Table 1. Participants completed all 12 treatment sessions (6 IPC and 6 SHAM) for each intervention trial.

	Mean±SD
Age (years)	20.8±1.0
Body Mass (kg)	78.3±14.3
Height (cm)	177.8±5.6
Body Mass Index (kg·m ⁻²)	24.6±3.4
Academy Playing Experience (years)	3.0±0.9
Typical Training Load (units/week)	630±0

Table 1: Descriptive characteristics (n=8)

2.3.2 Physiological Measurements at Rest

No significant main effects were observed for heart rate, systolic blood pressure, and diastolic blood pressure at rest (p>0.05; Table 2). A significant main effect for time was observed for resting blood lactate (p=0.035, η^2 =0.533) with POST (1.23±0.05) higher than PRE (1.14±0.06). No significant condition or interaction effects were observed for resting blood lactate (p>0.05; Table

2).

Table 2: Resting physiological measurements taken before (PRE) and after (POST) the completion of the ischemic preconditioning (IPC) and SHAM-controlled (SHAM) trials (Mean±SD).

	IPC SHAM			p-value and partial eta squared			
	PRE	POST	PRE	POST	Time	Condition	Interaction
Heart Rate (bpm)	61±11	64±13	57±6	65±14	p=0.072, η²=0.339	p=0.528, η²=0.053	p=0.468, η²=0.608
Systolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)	120.6±9.9	124.5±9.9	117.8±7.5	122.0±9.7	p=0.347, η²=0.160	p=0.506, η²=0.087	p=0.921, η²=0.0001
Diastolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)	71.4±2.6	68.1±5.8	66.5±3.3	67.9±18.9	p=0.814, η²=0.023	p=0.460, η²=0.155	p=0.522, η²=0.425
Blood Lactate (mmol/L)	1.32±0.27	1.58±0.31*	1.16±0.13	1.44±0.40*	p=0.035, η²=0.533	p=0.392, η²=0.141	p=0.950, η²=0.002

* Significant main effect for time (*p*=0.035) with POST higher than PRE

2.3.3 Running-Based Anaerobic Sprint Test Performance

Mean power, peak power, maximal heart rate, blood lactate, and fatigue index data for each RAST performance are presented in Table 3. A significant interaction effect was observed for peak power output, with post hoc analyses revealing at POST the IPC trial had a higher peak power output compared to the SHAM trial (p=0.010, η^2 =0.639). Additionally, a significant interaction effect was observed for fatigue index, with post hoc analyses showing at POST the IPC trial had a higher fatigue index compared to the SHAM trial (p=0.013, η^2 =0.608). There was also a significant main effect for condition for mean power output (p=0.024, η^2 =0.540), with the IPC trial (525.3±58.3) higher than the SHAM trial (469.9±52.5). There were no other significant main effects for RAST performance measures (*p*>0.05).

Table 3: Running-Based Anaerobic Sprint Test performance before (PRE) and after (POST) the completion of the ischemic preconditioning (IPC) and SHAM-controlled (SHAM) trials (Mean±SD).

		РС	SH	AM	p-value and partial eta squared		
	PRE	POST	PRE	POST	Time	Condition	Interaction
Peak Power Output (W)	632.8±199.1	708.6±217.6*	640.5±166.2	572.3±174.2	p=0.851, η²=0.005	p=0.102, η²=0.337	p=0.010, η²=0.639
Mean Power Output (W)	498.2±170.5 [#]	552.4±167.2 [#]	486.2±148.6	453.6±161.0	p=0.627, η²=0.035	p=0.024, η²=0.540	p=0.058, η²=0.421
Maximal Heart Rate (bpm)	183±9	182±10	179±7	180±11	p=0.966, η²=0.001	p=0.263, η²=0.175	p=0.647, η²=0.032
Blood Lactate (mmol/L)	9.50±3.90	9.41±2.35	8.49±2.79	7.78±2.81	p=0.535, η²=0.057	p=0.118, η²=0.312	p=0.720, η²=0.020
Fatigue Index (W/sec)	5.53±2.49	6.95±2.80⁺	6.46±2.25	5.08±1.96	p=0.960, η²=0.001	p=0.551, η²=0.053	p=0.013, η²=0.608

* Significant main effect for interaction (*p*=0.010) with IPC POST higher than SHAM POST

⁺ Significant main effect for interaction (*p*=0.013) with IPC POST higher than SHAM POST

[#] Significant main effect for condition (p=0.024) with IPC higher than SHAM

2.3.4 Femoral Artery Flow-Mediated Dilation

The results showed a significant interaction effect for relative FMD (p=0.018, η^2 =0.577), with post hoc analyses revealing at POST the IPC trial had a higher FMD compared to the SHAM trial (Table 4). There were no significant main effects for any other FMD measurements (p>0.05; Table 4).

2.3.5 Sleep

Sleep parameters for the night before each laboratory testing visit are shown in Table 5. There was a significant main effect for condition for minutes in bed (p=0.001, η^2 =0.847), with the IPC trial (545±118 minutes) higher than the SHAM trial (464±73 minutes). There were no other significant main effects for measures of sleep (p>0.05).

2.3.6 Training Load

There were no significant main effects observed for session-RPE assessed prior to each laboratory testing visit (p>0.05; Table 6).

Table 4: Femoral artery flow-mediated dilation (FMD) before (PRE) and after (POST) the completion of the ischemic preconditioning (IPC) and SHAM-controlled (SHAM) trials (Mean±SD).

	IPC		SHAM		p-value and partial eta squared		
	PRE	POST	PRE	POST	Time	Condition	Interaction
Relative FMD (%)	4.68±2.04	6.40±2.14*	6.67±3.18	4.96±2.65	p=0.992, η²=0.001	p=0.815, η²=0.008	p=0.018, η²=0.577
Absolute FMD (mm)	6.69±0.69	6.69±0.74	6.55±0.91	6.71±0.38	p=0.660, η²=0.029	p=0.606, η²=0.040	p=0.640, η²=0.033
FMD Baseline Diameter (mm)	6.39±0.72	6.29±0.69	6.15±0.89	6.48±0.40	p=0.462, η²=0.080	p=0.825, η²=0.007	p=0.141, η²=0.282
Shear Rate AUC (s ⁻¹ x 10 ³)	4.4±6.4	8.5±6.0	10.6±2.9	10.1±7.1	p=0.351, η²=0.125	p=0.346, η²=0.127	p=0.347, η²=0.127

* Significant main effect for interaction (*p*=0.017) with IPC POST higher than SHAM POST Shear Rate AUC- Shear Rate Area Under the Curve

Table 5: Measures of sleep before (PRE) and after (POST) the completion of the ischemic preconditioning (IPC) and SHAM-controlled (SHAM) trials (Mean±SD).

	IPC		SHAM		p-value and partial eta squared		
	PRE	POST	PRE	POST	Time	Condition	Interaction
SF Index	32.5±17.9	33.6±13.0	45.1±15.3	41.1±13.0	p=0.757, η²=0.015	p=0.158, η²=0.263	p=0.636, η²=0.034
Sleep Efficiency (%)	76.8±10.4	81.5±10.6	72.8±11.0	71.2±8.6	p=0.601, η²=0.041	p=0.125, η²=0.303	p=0.264, η²=0.174
Total Minutes in Bed (mins)	609±106*	644±61*	447±64	482±81	p=0.409, η²=0.001	p=0.001, η²=0.847	p=0.982, η²=0.099
Sleep Duration (mins)	447±82	456±52	347±85	395±100	p=0.197, η²=0.136	p=0.064, η²=0.407	p=0.329, η²=0.225

*Significant main effect for condition (p=0.001) with IPC higher than SHAM

SF Index- Sleep Fragmentation Index

Table 6: Training load assessed using session-RPE before (PRE) and after (POST) the completion of the ischemic preconditioning (IPC) and SHAM-controlled (SHAM) trials (Mean±SD).

	IPC		SH	SHAM		p-value and partial eta squared		
	PRE	POST	PRE	POST	Time	Condition	Interaction	
Soccion PDE	E 20⊥2 20		4 00+2 28	p=0.161,	p=0.351,	p=0.460,		
JESSIUII-RFE 5.56⊥5.56 5.05⊥4.00	5.05_4.00	4.50±3.78	4.00±3.38	η²=0.260	$\eta^2 = 0.125$	$\eta^2 = 0.080$		

Session-RPE- Session-Rating of Perceived Exertion

2.4 Discussion

The aim of the present study was to determine if a 2-week repeated IPC intervention would enhance anaerobic performance in RSA in non-elite, male academy soccer players. Results demonstrate that the repeated IPC intervention enhanced peak power output during the RAST but had no effect on mean power output. In addition to the primary aim, it was explored if improvements in endothelial function could be a possible mechanism to explain improvements in anaerobic performance. The present study discovered that endothelial function significantly increased following the repeated IPC intervention, suggesting that enhanced endothelial function may improve peak power. The present study demonstrates IPC can improve anaerobic performance in non-elite, male academy soccer players.

This study's central finding was that repeated administration of IPC over 2-weeks enhanced anaerobic performance by increasing peak power output during repeated sprints. This supports existing research whereby bilateral IPC increased peak power in the first three out of a total of twelve, 6-s cycling sprints (Patterson et al. 2015). However, previous research investigating IPC prior to anaerobic exercise has provided conflicting results (Horiuchi 2017; Patterson et al. 2015) and this study's finding contrasts other literature using IPC to enhance anaerobic performance by means of RSA. In well-trained male and female team sport athletes, no improvement was observed in RSA assessed via sprint cycling performance (5 x 6 maximal effort sprints) following a single dose of IPC (Gibson et al. 2015). However, this study only administered IPC unilaterally, in comparison to the present study where IPC was conducted bilaterally. Importantly, it has been suggested that IPC applied bilaterally to the limbs improves exercise performance to a greater

80

extent compared to IPC applied unilaterally (Cocking et al. 2019). In another study, Cocking et al. (2021) investigated whether a single dose of bilateral IPC would enhance repeated cycling sprint performance (10 x 6s sprints with 24s of recovery), however no performance enhancements were observed. Furthermore, whilst less research has assessed the influence of IPC on running-based sprint performance, in such studies they have utilised only a single dose of IPC and observed no performance enhancement (Gibson et al. 2013; Griffin et al. 2018). The lack of performance enhancement following a single dose of IPC suggests a repeated method of IPC, as adopted in the present study, is required to surpass a threshold where IPC can be effective (Salvador et al. 2016). Collectively, the use of bilateral and repeated IPC in this study may therefore have provided a more optimal dose of IPC to enhance running RSA. However, comparisons to literature are challenging as studies have adopted various methods to assess RSA ranging from 5x6s, 10x6s, 12x6s, to 6x30s sprint efforts, and have mainly assessed cycling performance (Gibson et al. 2015; Patterson et al. 2015; Cheng et al. 2021; Cocking et al. 2021). Consequently, more research is needed to verify IPC's role in enhancing running-based anaerobic performance.

In the present study, peak power output was significantly enhanced by 11.3% using repeated IPC over 2-weeks in comparison to the SHAM condition. Sprints that are performed within field-based team sports generally obtain sizeable amounts of energy via anaerobic glycolysis and phosphocreatine (PCr) (Spencer et al. 2005). In addition to this, the peak power output derived from the RAST has been shown to significantly correlate with the phosphagen pathway contribution (r=0.65, *p*<0.05) (Milioni et al. 2017). It is therefore plausible that the improvement in peak power output observed in the present study can be attributed, in part, to an

enhancement in phosphagen pathway energy production. In support of this, it has also been noted that IPC increases PCr production (Andreas et al. 2011), a molecule in the phosphagen pathway. Additionally, in a clinical setting, IPC application in an animal model maintained ATP content in the heart muscle following IR-Injury via an increased concentration of PCr (Lukes et al. 2005). Furthermore, previous reviews have deemed IPC possible to promote PCr resynthesis (Incognito, Burr and Millar 2016; Salvador et al. 2016). Overall, repeated IPC may have increased PCr content, leading to an improvement in peak power output, and is a mechanism that should be further explored.

The observed improvement in endothelial function following repeated IPC may also explain the increase in peak power output. It has been suggested that IPC may increase blood flow to skeletal muscle which improves the conservation of power by the strengthening of microvascular pressure and enhancing metabolite washout (Libonati et al. 2001; Wang, Baynosa and Zamboni 2011). Additionally, IPC potentially improves skeletal muscle blood flow by inducing conduit artery vasodilation which enhances functional sympatholysis (the blunting of sympathetically mediated vasoconstriction during exercise) and conserves endothelial and microvascular function during shear stress (Cocking et al. 2018a). Previous research has also discovered enhancements in skeletal muscle oxidative capacity and microvascular blood flow following a repeated IPC intervention, which may be responsible for greater improvements in peak power output (Jeffries et al. 2019). Moreover, in short duration cycling performance, an increased activation of skeletal muscle was observed alongside a significant improvement in mean power output (Cruz et al. 2016). It is therefore possible that the increase in endothelial function in the

present study allowed for greater skeletal muscle blood flow which contributed towards the improvement in peak power output. Further research is required to decipher if this is a mechanism responsible for the observed improvement in peak power output.

The present study revealed no improvement in mean power output following repeated IPC. Previously, research has associated mean power output in an all-out 30s anaerobic capacity test with energy produced from the glycolytic pathway (r=0.58; p=0.03) (Zagatto et al. 2017). However, with regards to the RAST, mean power output has been shown to correlate significantly with the phosphagen energy pathway (r=0.65; p<0.05) suggesting mean power output is perhaps not influenced by the glycolytic energy production pathway (Milioni et al. 2017). In addition to this, the present study revealed IPC had no significant influence on blood lactate concentration following the RAST, suggesting that IPC had no influence on blood lactate accumulation. Previous research analysing the effect of acute IPC prior to 50m sprint swimming trials, which predominantly utilises the glycolytic energy system (Capelli, Pendergast and Termin 1998), observed faster swimming sprint times which was also associated with greater blood lactate accumulation, indicating greater glycolytic contribution to enhance performance (Lisbôa et al. 2017). However, in the RAST, sprint performance by means of peak power and mean power output are not correlated to the glycolytic energy pathway (r=0.28; p>0.05) (r=0.23; p>0.05) (Milioni et al. 2017). In the present study, IPC may not have had a significant effect on blood lactate accumulation due to minimal contribution of glycolytic energy pathway in the RAST. However, it is unclear why mean power output was not significantly enhanced due to its

association with the phosphagen pathway. Further research is required to understand IPC's influence on mean power output and its relation to the phosphagen pathway.

To the author's knowledge, the present study is the first explore the effects of repeated IPC on non-elite academy soccer players' anaerobic performance. A 2-week IPC protocol consisting of 6 sessions (4 x 5 mins) was administered as previous literature demonstrated the sufficiency of a 2-week period to improve endothelial function (Jones et al. 2015). The present study corroborates this finding by also observing enhanced endothelial function utilising a 2-week IPC protocol. After a single dose of IPC is completed, the cardioprotective effects are present for 1-2h following the dose, and although they reduce, remain present for 3-4 days, therefore, endothelial function can be improved utilising both the first and second windows of protection (Loukogeorgakis et al. 2007). The observed improvement in endothelial function in the present study may therefore be the product of the timing of late phase of protection, which activates the synthesis of certain cardioprotective proteins including an upregulation of the NO-pathway and cyclooxygenase-2 (Jones et al. 2015; Xuan et al. 2001). Previous research has analysed the effect of repeated IPC on exercise performance, ranging from 7 to 10 days to 8 weeks of exposure prior to measuring exercise performance (Jeffries et al. 2019; Slysz and Burr 2019; Niespodziński et al. 2021). Additionally, the present study further supports previous findings that have utilised repeated IPC and have demonstrated improvements in performance (Foster et al. 2014; Lindsay et al. 2017; Jeffries et al. 2019) As mentioned in Section 1.6.3, whilst a single dose of IPC has been found to enhance exercise performance (Crisafulli et al. 2011; Ferreira et al. 2016b), the application of repeated IPC utilises the late window of protection (Loukogeorgakis et al. 2007) and may ensure a certain metabolic threshold is met to induce the beneficial effects of IPC (Crisafulli et al. 2011; de Groot et al. 2010; Jean-St-Michel et al. 2011). Although, following the repeated IPC intervention peak power output significantly improved and provided an ergogenic effect, the most advantageous dose of repeated IPC to obtain a performance enhancement is still unclear (Lindsay et al. 2017). Further research is recommended to determine the optimal repeated IPC dosage that elicits the greatest performance enhancing effects for anaerobic performance.

In the present study, parameters of sleep were assessed the night prior to each experimental trial since greater sleep at night prior to athletic performance has led to improvements in performance (Mah et al. 2011). Importantly, no significant differences were observed in sleep duration, sleep efficiency or sleep fragmentation between the IPC or SHAM conditions. As such, acute differences in sleep cannot be attributed to the enhanced peak power output that was observed. In addition to sleep, the present study also assessed session-RPE prior to each of the experimental trials to control for influences of training load on performance outcomes. It was discovered that there was no difference between session-RPE between either condition, indicating each trial was completed with participants enduring a similar previous training load. Collectively, measuring sleep and session-RPE strengthened this study by controlling for external factors that could influence performance and supports recommendations for greater pre-study restrictions and control measures in IPC and exercise performance research (Incognito, Burr and Millar 2016).

2.4.1 Limitations

The present study had limitations that should be acknowledged. Firstly, it was not possible to design the study to be double-blinded, therefore, the participants knew whether they were receiving the high- or low-cuff inflation treatment condition. However, the participants were not informed which treatment condition researchers predicted would enhance performance in order to reduce any placebo effect. Secondly, the study only analysed the effect of IPC on anaerobic performance in non-elite male academy soccer players, consequently, results are not generalisable to other populations, such as females or other sports. The present study was therefore unable to explore sex-based differences which has importance since differences between males and females have been suggested in terms of their response to IPC (Paradis-Deschênes, Joanisse and Billaut 2017). Thirdly, during the intervention periods, participants were still training with their soccer academy, which may have allowed their fitness levels to vary throughout the intervention period. However, the content of the training sessions within the academy during this time had a greater emphasis on match preparation and tactics, as opposed to fitness development. Additionally, the testing took place mid-season, in contrast to completing it in pre-season or the off-season, where there is a greater focus on the progression of fitness levels. Lastly, a limitation of the present study was the sample size, which was small, and future research should aim to expand these findings in a larger sample size.

2.4.2 Future Directions

Future research should continue to analyse the effect of repeated IPC on athletic performance. Specifically, future research should explore the effects of extended repeated IPC sessions on anaerobic performance. This will determine if longer intervention periods are associated with

86

greater enhancements in performance. The mechanisms explaining IPC's performance enhancing effect should also be further explored. Future research should aim to analyse if repeated IPC alters muscle PCr content by including additional assessment techniques which could include, but are not limited to, muscle biopsies, blood samples, and magnetic resonance imaging of PCr. In addition to this, although literature has investigated repeated IPC protocols administered over a period of several days to several weeks (Jones et al. 2015; Foster et al. 2014; Lindsay et al. 2017), there has been minimal literature assessing the effects of multiple IPC sessions per day on exercise performance (Lindsay et al. 2017). Applying multiple IPC sessions over a day could be more feasible and time efficient for participants/athletes, and it would identify whether a strategy like this contributes to greater magnitude of performance enhancements. Lastly, future research should aim to analyse the effects of repeated IPC on performance in female athletes due to the considerably less research conducted on female participants (Caru et al. 2019). This is because as discussed in Section 1.6, this will enable researchers to detect if there are any differences in IPC response and exercise performance in male or female participants.

2.4.3 Practical Applications

The results from this study have potential practical implications for soccer academy athletes, coaches, and physical performance coaches. Coaches and physical performance coaches could look to implement IPC in the days leading up to training and matches and it could be used for the athletes as a loading period. The repeated aspect of IPC adds to the practicality of the intervention as it allows IPC to be conducted on days where matches are not taking place, or it could be implemented in the days leading up to matches. In addition, although IPC may provide

an improvement in performance, it also carries no risk of fatigue or high exertion associated with physical training methods. Also, the opportunity to implement IPC on a non-matchday is essential to the planning for coaches as it would not affect the coach's preparation as much if IPC had to take place on a matchday to get the maximum performance benefit. IPC can also be viewed as a cost-effective method to enhance performance, increasing its accessibility to non-elite players and coaches who may have fewer financial resources.

2.5 Conclusion

This study demonstrates that a 2-week IPC intervention can enhance peak power output in nonelite male academy soccer players. Moreover, endothelial function was also significantly improved following the repeated IPC intervention, providing a potential mechanistic explanation for the observed enhancement in performance. These findings present IPC as a potential intervention strategy for coaches and physical performance coaches to carry out prior to matches and training in order to enhance anaerobic performance. Future research should look to analyse the effect of repeated IPC in a more diverse sample and utilising a larger sample size to confirm these initial findings.

3.0 Reference List

Addison, P., Neligan, P., Ashrafpour, H., Khan, A., Zhong, A., Moses, M., Forrest, C. and Pang, C. (2003). Noninvasive remote ischemic preconditioning for global protection of skeletal muscle against infarction. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 285 (4), pp. 1435-1443.

Adreani, C., Hill, J. and Kaufman, M. (1997). Responses of group III and IV muscle afferents to dynamic exercise. *Journal of applied physiology*, 82 (6), pp. 1811-1817.

Alkhulaifi, A., Pugsley, W. and Yellon, D. (1993). The influence of the time period between preconditioning ischemia and prolonged ischemia on myocardial protection. *Cardioscience*, 4 (3), pp. 163-169.

Amann, M., Sidhu, S., Weavil, J., Mangum, T. and Venturelli, M. (2015). Autonomic responses to exercise: group III/IV muscle afferents and fatigue. *Autonomic neuroscience*, 188, pp. 19-23.

Anderson, J. and Morrow, D. (2017). Acute myocardial infarction. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376 (21), pp. 2053-2064.

Andreas, M., Schmid, A., Keilani, M., Doberer, D., Bartko, J., Crevenna, R., Moser, E. and Wolzt, M. (2011). Effect of ischemic preconditioning in skeletal muscle measured by functional magnetic resonance imaging and spectroscopy: A randomized crossover trial. *Journal of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance*, 13 (1).

Bailey, T., Jones, H., Gregson, W., Atkinson, G., Cable, N. and Thijssen, D. (2012). Effect of ischemic preconditioning on lactate accumulation and running performance. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 44 (11), pp. 2084–2089.

Bala, A. and Bhalla, S., (2022). Ergogenic aids for improving athletes' performance: An overview. *International Journal of Physiology*, 7 (1), pp. 371–373.

Bangsbo, J., Johansen, L., Graham, T. and Saltin, B. (1993). Lactate and H+ effluxes from human skeletal muscles during intense, dynamic exercise. *The Journal of Physiology*, 462 (1), pp. 115-133.

Bangsbo, J., Krustrup, P., González-Alonso, J. and Saltin, B. (2001). ATP production and efficiency of human skeletal muscle during intense exercise: effect of previous exercise. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 280 (6), pp. 956-964.

Banks, L., Wells, G., Clarizia, N., Jean-St-Michel, E., McKillop, A., Redington, A. and McCrindle, B. (2016). Short-term remote ischemic preconditioning is not associated with improved blood

pressure and exercise capacity in young adults. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism,* 41 (8), pp. 903-906.

Barbosa, T., Machado, A., Braz, I., Fernandes, I., Vianna, L., Nobrega, A. and Silva, B. (2015). Remote ischemic preconditioning delays fatigue development during handgrip exercise. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports*, 25 (3), pp. 356–364.

Baydil, B. (2020). Effect of Ischemic Preconditioning on Lactate Accumulation and Anaerobic Performance in Physically Active Male Students. *African Educational Research Journal*, 8 (2), pp. 221-226.

Beaven, C., Cook, C., Kilduff, L., Drawer, S. and Gill, N. (2012). Intermittent lower-limb occlusion enhances recovery after strenuous exercise. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition and Metabolism*, 37 (6), pp. 1132–1139.

ter Beek, F., Jokumsen, P., Sloth, B., Stevenson, A. and Larsen, R. (2022). Ischemic preconditioning attenuates rating of perceived exertion but does not improve maximal oxygen consumption or maximal power output. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 39 (9), pp. 2479-2485.

Behrens, M., Zschorlich, V., Mittlmeier, T., Bruhn, S. and Husmann, F. (2020). Ischemic preconditioning did not affect central and peripheral factors of performance fatigability after submaximal isometric exercise. *Frontiers in Physiology*, p. 371.

Besco, R., Sureda, A., Tur, J. and Pons, A. (2012). The effect of nitric-oxide-related supplements on human performance. *Sports medicine*, 42(2), pp. 99-117.

Bird, S. (2013). Sleep, recovery, and athletic performance: a brief review and recommendations. *Strength & Conditioning Journal*, 35 (5), pp. 43-47.

Birkelund, T., Obad, D., Matejec, R., Bøtker, H. and Ravn, H. (2015). Remote ischemic preconditioning does not increase circulating or effector organ concentrations of proopiomelanocortin derivates. *Scandinavian Cardiovascular Journal*, 49 (5), pp.257-263.

Bishop, D., Spencer, M., Duffield, R. and Lawrence, S., (2001). The validity of a repeated sprint ability test. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 4 (1), pp. 19-29.

Bizzini, M. and Dvorak, J. (2015). FIFA 11+: an effective programme to prevent football injuries in various player groups worldwide—a narrative review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 49 (9), pp. 577-579.

Bogdanis, G., Nevill, M., Boobis, L. and Lakomy, H. (1996). Contribution of phosphocreatine and aerobic metabolism to energy supply during repeated sprint exercise. *Journal of applied physiology*, 80 (3), pp. 876-884.

Bouchard, C. and Rankinen, T. (2001). Individual differences in response to regular physical activity. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 33 (6), pp. 446-451.

Burgess, K., Holt, T., Munro, S. and Swinton, P. (2016). Reliability and validity of the running anaerobic sprint test (RAST) in soccer players. *Journal of Trainology*, 5 (2), pp. 24-29.

Candilio, L., Malik, A. and Hausenloy, D. (2013). Protection of organs other than the heart by remote ischemic conditioning. *Journal of cardiovascular medicine*, 14 (3), pp. 193-205.

Capelli, C., Pendergast, D. and Termin, B. (1998). Energetics of swimming at maximal speeds in humans. *European journal of applied physiology and occupational physiology*, 78 (5), pp. 385-393.

Carling, C., le Gall, F. and Dupont, G. (2012) Analysis of repeated high intensity running performance in professional soccer. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 30 (4), pp. 325–336.

Carney, C., Buysse, D., Ancoli-Israel, S., Edinger, J., Krystal, A., Lichstein, K. and Morin, C. (2012) The consensus sleep diary: Standardizing prospective sleep self-monitoring. *Sleep* 35 (2), pp. 287–302.

Caru, M., Lalonde, F., Gravel, H., Daigle, C., Tournoux, F., Jacquemet, V. and Curnier, D. (2016) Remote ischaemic preconditioning shortens QT intervals during exercise in healthy subjects. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 16 (8), pp. 1005–1013.

Caru, M., Levesque, A., Lalonde, F. and Curnier, D. (2019). An overview of ischemic preconditioning in exercise performance: A systematic review. *Journal of Sport and Health Science*, 8 (4), pp. 355–369.

Cellini, N., Buman, M., McDevitt, E., Ricker, A. and Mednick, S. (2013). Direct comparison of two actigraphy devices with polysomnographically recorded naps in healthy young adults. *Chronobiology international*, 30 (5), pp. 691-698.

Chaouachi, A., Manzi, V., Wong, D., Chaalali, A., Laurencelle, L., Chamari, K. and Castagna, C. (2010). Intermittent endurance and repeated sprint ability in soccer players. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 24 (10), pp. 2663-2669.

Chapman, R., Laymon, A. and Levine, B. (2013). Timing of arrival and pre-acclimatization strategies for the endurance athlete competing at moderate to high altitudes. *High Altitude Medicine and Biology*, 14 (4), pp. 319–324.

Chen, A., Frangos, S., Kilaru, S. and Sumpio, B. (2001). Intermittent pneumatic compression devises - Physiological mechanisms of action. *European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery*, 21 (5), pp. 383–392.

Cheng, C., Kuo, Y., Hsu, W., Chen, C. and Pan, C. (2021). Local and remote ischemic preconditioning improves sprint interval exercise performance in team sport athletes. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18 (20), p. 10653.

Cho, A., Mitchell, L., Koopmans, D. and Langille, B. (1997). Effects of changes in blood flow rate on cell death and cell proliferation in carotid arteries of immature rabbits. *Circulation Research*, 81 (3), pp. 328–337.

Chopra, K., Jeffries, O., Tallent, J., Heffernan, S., Kilduff, L., Gray, A. and Waldron, M. (2022). Repeated ischemic preconditioning effects on physiological responses to hypoxic exercise. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, 93 (1), pp. 13-21.

Cocking, S., Cable, N., Wilson, M., Green, D., Thijssen, D. and Jones, H. (2018a). Conduit artery diameter during exercise is enhanced after local, but not remote, ischemic preconditioning. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 9, p. 435.

Cocking, S., Ihsan, M., Jones, H., Hansen, C., Cable, N., Thijssen, D. and Wilson, M. (2021) Repeated sprint cycling performance is not enhanced by ischaemic preconditioning or muscle heating strategies. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 21 (2), pp. 166–175.

Cocking, S., Jones, H., Cable, N. and Thijssen, D. (2019). Enhancing Sports Performance Through Ischemic Preconditioning: Moderating Factors and Potential Mechanisms. *The Science of Hormesis in Health and Longevity*. pp. 213–222.

Cocking, S., Landman, T., Benson, M., Lord, R., Jones, H., Gaze, D., Thijssen, D. and George, K. (2017). The impact of remote ischemic preconditioning on cardiac biomarker and functional response to endurance exercise. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 27 (10), pp. 1061-1069.

Cocking, S., Wilson, M., Nichols, D., Cable, N., Green, D., Thijssen, D. and Jones, H. (2018b). Is there an optimal ischemic-preconditioning dose to improve cycling performance? *International journal of sports physiology and performance*, 13 (3), pp. 274-282.

Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences*. Routledge.

Cooper, C. and Brown, G. (2008). The inhibition of mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase by the gases carbon monoxide, nitric oxide, hydrogen cyanide and hydrogen sulfide: chemical mechanism and physiological significance. *Journal of bioenergetics and biomembranes*, 40 (5), pp. 533-539.

Coppin, E., Heath, E., Bressel, E. and Wagner, D., (2012). Wingate anaerobic test reference values for male power athletes. *International journal of sports physiology and performance*, 7 (3), pp. 232-236.

Corretti, M., Anderson, T., Benjamin, E., Celermajer, D., Charbonneau, F., Creager, M., Deanfield, J., Drexler, H., Gerhard-Herman, M., Herrington, D. and Vallance, P. (2002). Guidelines for the ultrasound assessment of endothelial-dependent flow-mediated vasodilation of the brachial artery: a report of the International Brachial Artery Reactivity Task Force. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 39 (2), pp. 257-265.

Crisafulli, A., Tangianu, F., Tocco, F., Concu, A., Mameli, O., Mulliri, G. and Caria, M. (2011). Ischemic preconditioning of the muscle improves maximal exercise performance but not maximal oxygen uptake in humans. *Journal of applied physiology*, 111 (2), pp. 530-536.

Crotty, N., Boland, M., Mahony, N., Donne, B. and Fleming, N. (2021). Reliability and validity of the Lactate Pro 2 Analyzer. *Measurement in Physical Education and Exercise Science*, 25 (3), pp. 202-211.

Cruz, R., de Aguiar, R., Turnes, T., Salvador, A. and Caputo, F. (2016). Effects of ischemic preconditioning on short duration cycling performance. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 41 (8), pp. 825-831.

Cruz, R., De Aguiar, R., Turnes, T., Pereira, K. and Caputo, F. (2015). Effects of ischemic preconditioning on maximal constant-load cycling performance. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 119 (9), pp. 961-967.

Cruz, R., Pereira, K., Lisbôa, F. and Caputo, F. (2017). Could small-diameter muscle afferents be responsible for the ergogenic effect of limb ischemic preconditioning? *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 122 (3), pp. 718-720.

Cunha, R. (2005). Neuroprotection by adenosine in the brain: from A1 receptor activation to A2A receptor blockade. *Purinergic signalling*, 1 (2), pp. 111-134.

Dawson, E., Whyte, G., Black, M., Jones, H., Hopkins, N., Oxborough, D., Gaze, D., Shave, R., Wilson, M., George, K. and Green, D. (2008). Changes in vascular and cardiac function after prolonged strenuous exercise in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 105 (5), pp. 1562–1568.

Depre, C., Park, J., Shen, Y., Zhao, X., Qiu, H., Yan, L., Tian, B., Vatner, S. and Vatner, D. (2010). Molecular mechanisms mediating preconditioning following chronic ischemia differ from those in classical second window. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 299 (3), pp. H752-H762.

Eltzschig, H.K. and Eckle, T. (2011). Ischemia and reperfusion-from mechanism to translation. *Nature Medicine*, 17 (11), pp. 1391–1401.

Enko, K., Nakamura, K., Yunoki, K., Miyoshi, T., Akagi, S., Yoshida, M., Toh, N., Sangawa, M., Nishii, N., Nagase, S., Kohno, K., Morita, H., Kusano, K. and Ito, H. (2011). Intermittent arm ischemia induces vasodilatation of the contralateral upper limb. *Journal of Physiological Sciences*, 61 (6), pp. 507–513.

Faude, O., Koch, T. and Meyer, T. (2012) Straight sprinting is the most frequent action in goal situations in professional football. Journal of Sports Sciences, 30 (7), pp. 625–631.

Ferdinandy, P. and Schulz, R. (2003) Nitric oxide, superoxide, and peroxynitrite in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury and preconditioning. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 138 (4), pp. 532–543.

Ferreira, T., Sabino-Carvalho, J., Lopes, T., Ribeiro, I., Succi, J., da Silva, A. and Silva, B. (2016). Ischemic Preconditioning and Repeated Sprint Swimming: A Placebo and Nocebo Study. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 48 (10), pp. 1967–1975.

Fitridge, R. and Thompson, M. (2011). Mechanisms of vascular disease: a reference book for vascular specialists (p. 587). University of Adelaide Press.

Foster, C., Florhaug, J., Franklin, J., Gottschall, L., Hrovatin, L., Parker, S., Doleshal, P. and Dodge, C. (2001). A new approach to monitoring exercise training. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 15 (1), pp. 109-115.

Foster, G., Giri, P., Rogers, D., Larson, S. and Anholm, J. (2014). Ischemic preconditioning improves oxygen saturation and attenuates hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction at high altitude. *High Altitude Medicine and Biology*, 15 (2), pp. 155–161.

Foster, G., Westerdahl, D., Foster, L., Hsu, J. and Anholm, J. (2011). Ischemic preconditioning of the lower extremity attenuates the normal hypoxic increase in pulmonary artery systolic pressure. *Respiratory Physiology and Neurobiology*, 179 (2–3), pp. 248–253.

Frangos, S., Gahtan, V. and Sumpio, B. (1999). Localization of atherosclerosis: role of hemodynamics. *Archives of Surgery*, 134 (10), pp. 1142-1149.

Garcia, C., da Mota, G., Leicht, A. and Marocolo, M. (2017). Ischemic preconditioning and acute recovery of performance in rugby union players. *Sports Medicine International Open*, 1 (03), pp. E107-E112.

Ghosh, S., Standen, N. and Galiñanes, M. (2000). Preconditioning the human myocardium by simulated ischemia: studies on the early and delayed protection. *Cardiovascular research*, 45 (2), pp. 339-350.

Gibson, N., Mahony, B., Tracey, C., Fawkner, S. and Murray, A. (2015). Effect of ischemic preconditioning on repeated sprint ability in team sport athletes. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 33 (11), pp. 1182–1188.

Gibson, N., White, J., Neish, M. and Murray, A. (2013). Effect of Ischemic Preconditioning on Land-Based Sprinting in Team-Sport Athletes. *International Journal of Sport Physiology and Performance*, 8 (6), pp. 671-676.

Girard, O., Mendez-Villanueva, A. and Bishop, D. (2011). Repeated-sprint ability—Part I. *Sports medicine*, 41 (8), pp. 673-694.

Gliemann, L., Hansen, C., Rytter, N. and Hellsten, Y. (2019). Regulation of skeletal muscle blood flow during exercise. *Current Opinion in Physiology*, 10, pp. 146-155.

Griffin, P., Ferguson, R., Gissane, C., Bailey, S. and Patterson, S. (2018). Ischemic preconditioning enhances critical power during a 3-minute all-out cycling test. *Journal of sports sciences*, 36 (9), pp. 1038-1043.

Gliemann, L., Hansen, C., Rytter, N. and Hellsten, Y. (2019). Regulation of skeletal muscle blood flow during exercise. *Current Opinion in Physiology*, 10, pp. 146-155.

Gonzalez, D., McAllister, M., Waldman, H., Ferrando, A., Joyce, J., Barringer, N., Dawes, J., Kieffer, A., Harvey, T., Kerksick, C., Stout, J., Ziegenfuss, T., Zapp, A., Tartar, J., Heileson, J., VanDusseldorp, T., Kalman, D., Campbell, B., Antonio, J. and Kreider, R. (2022). International society of sports nutrition position stand: tactical athlete nutrition. *Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition*, 19 (1), pp. 267–315.

Grau, M., Seeger, B., Mozigemba, L., Roth, R., Baumgartner, L., Predel, H.G., Bloch, W. and Tomschi, F. (2022). Effects of Recurring IPC vs. rIPC Maneuvers on Exercise Performance, Pulse Wave Velocity, and Red Blood Cell Deformability: Special Consideration of Reflow Varieties. *Biology*, 11 (2), p. 163.

de Groot, P., Thijssen, D., Sanchez, M., Ellenkamp, R. and Hopman, M. (2010). Ischemic preconditioning improves maximal performance in humans. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 108 (1), pp. 141–146.

Grover, G., Sleph, P. and Dzwonczyk, S. (1992). Role of myocardial ATP-sensitive potassium channels in mediating preconditioning in the dog heart and their possible interaction with adenosine A1-receptors. *Circulation*, 86 (4), pp. 1310-1316.

Guilherme Da Silva Telles, L., Cristiano Carelli, L., Dutra Bráz, I., Junqueira, C., Rios Monteiro, E., Machado Reis, V., Macedo Vianna, J. and da Silva Novaes, J. (2020). Effects of Ischemic Preconditioning as a Warm-Up on Leg Press and Bench Press Performance. *Journal of Human Kinetics*, 75 (1), pp. 267–277. Gürses, V., Akgül, M., and Baydil, B. (2017). The Effect of Ischemic Preconditioning on Anaerobic Performance In Soccer Players. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Physiology*. 3 (1), pp. 13-17.

Haddad, M., Stylianides, G., Djaoui, L., Dellal, A. and Chamari, K. (2017). Session-RPE method for training load monitoring: validity, ecological usefulness, and influencing factors. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, 11, p. 612.

Hall, J. and Hall, M. (2020). *Guyton and Hall textbook of medical physiology e-Book*. Elsevier Health Sciences.

Halley, S., Marshall, P. and Siegler, J. (2019). The effect of IPC on central and peripheral fatiguing mechanisms in humans following maximal single limb isokinetic exercise. *Physiological Reports*, 7 (8), p. 14063.

Halley, S., Peeling, P., Brown, H., Sim, M., Mallabone, J., Dawson, B. and Binnie, M. (2020). Repeat Application of Ischemic Preconditioning Improves Maximal 1,000-m Kayak Ergometer Performance in a Simulated Competition Format. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*.

Hampson, D., St Clair Gibson, A., Lambert, M. and Noakes, T. (2001). The influence of sensory cues on the perception of exertion during exercise and central regulation of exercise performance. *Sports Medicine*, 31 (13), pp. 935-952.

Hausenloy, D. and Yellon, D. (2009). Preconditioning and postconditioning: underlying mechanisms and clinical application. *Atherosclerosis*, 204 (2), pp. 334-341.

Hausenloy, D. and Yellon, D. (2016). Ischaemic conditioning and reperfusion injury. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 13 (4), pp.193-209.

Heinen, A., Behmenburg, F., Aytulun, A., Dierkes, M., Zerbin, L., Kaisers, W., Schaefer, M., Meyer-Treschan, T., Feit, S., Bauer, I. and Hollmann, M. (2018). The release of cardioprotective humoral factors after remote ischemic preconditioning in humans is age-and sex-dependent. *Journal of translational medicine*, 16 (1), pp. 1-11.

Helgerud, J., Engen, L., Wisloff, U. and Hoff, J. (2001). Aerobic endurance training improves soccer performance. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 33 (11), pp. 1925-1931.

Hellsten, Y., Maclean, D., Rådegran, G., Saltin, B. and Bangsbo, J. (1998). Adenosine concentrations in the interstitium of resting and contracting human skeletal muscle. *Circulation*, 98 (1), pp. 6-8.

Herman, L., Foster, C., Maher, M., Mikat, R. and Porcari, J. (2006). Validity and reliability of the session RPE method for monitoring exercise training intensity. *South African Journal of Sports Medicine*, 18 (1), pp. 14-17.

Horiuchi, M. (2017) Ischemic preconditioning: Potential impact on exercise performance and underlying mechanisms. *The Journal of Physical Fitness and Sports Medicine*, 6 (1), pp. 15–23.

Horiuchi, M., Endo, J. and Thijssen, D. (2015). Impact of ischemic preconditioning on functional sympatholysis during handgrip exercise in humans. *Physiological Reports*, 3 (2), p. 12304.

Impellizzeri, F., Rampinini, E., Castagna, C., Bishop, D., Ferrari Bravo, D., Tibaudi, A. and Wisloff, U. (2008). Validity of a repeated-sprint test for football. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 29 (11), pp. 899–905.

Impellizzeri, F., Rampinini, E. and Marcora, S. (2005). Physiological assessment of aerobic training in soccer. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 23 (6), pp. 583–592.

Incognito, A., Burr, J. and Millar, P. (2016). The effects of ischemic preconditioning on human exercise performance. *Sports medicine*, 46 (4), pp. 531-544.

Ishida, T., Yarimizu, K., Gute, D. and Korthuis, R. (1997). *Mechanisms of ischemic preconditioning*. Shock (Augusta, Ga.), 8 (2), pp. 86-94.

Jean-St-Michel, E., Manlhiot, C., Li, J., Tropak, M., Michelsen, M., Schmidt, M., McCrindle, B., Wells, G. and Redington, A. (2011). Remote preconditioning improves maximal performance in highly trained athletes. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 43 (7), pp. 1280–1286.

Jeffries, O., Evans, D.T., Waldron, M., Coussens, A. and Patterson, S.D. (2019) Seven-day ischaemic preconditioning improves muscle efficiency during cycling. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 37 (24), pp. 2798–2805.

Jeukendrup, A., Saris, W., Brouns, F. and Kester, A. (1996). A new validated endurance performance test. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 28 (2), pp. 266-270.

Jones, H., Hopkins, N., Bailey, T., Green, D., Cable, N. and Thijssen, D. (2014). Seven-day remote ischemic preconditioning improves local and systemic endothelial function and microcirculation in healthy humans. *American Journal of Hypertension*, 27 (7), pp. 918–925.

Jones, H., Nyakayiru, J., Bailey, T., Green, D., Cable, N., Sprung, V., Hopkins, N. and Thijssen, D. (2015). Impact of eight weeks of repeated ischaemic preconditioning on brachial artery and cutaneous microcirculatory function in healthy males. *European journal of preventive cardiology*, 22 (8), pp. 1083-1087.

Kaur, C., Foulds, W. and Ling, E. (2008). *Hypoxia-ischemia and retinal ganglion cell damage*. Clinical Ophthalmology (Auckland, NZ), 2 (4), p. 879.

Keir, D., Thériault, F. and Serresse, O. (2013). Evaluation of the running-based anaerobic sprint test as a measure of repeated sprint ability in collegiate-level soccer players. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 27 (6), pp. 1671-1678.

Kerksick, C., Wilborn, C., Roberts, M., Smith-Ryan, A., Kleiner, S., Jäger, R., Collins, R., Cooke, M., Davis, J., Galvan, E. and Greenwood, M. (2018). ISSN exercise & sports nutrition review update: research & recommendations. *Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition*, 15 (1), p. 38.

Kharbanda, R., Peters, M., Walton, B., Kattenhorn, M., Mullen, M., Klein, N., Vallance, P., Deanfield, J. and MacAllister, R. (2001). Ischemic preconditioning prevents endothelial injury and systemic neutrophil activation during ischemia-reperfusion in humans in vivo. *Circulation*, 103 (12), pp. 1624-1630.

Kido, K., Suga, T., Tanaka, D., Honjo, T., Homma, T., Fujita, S., Hamaoka, T. and Isaka, T. (2015). Ischemic preconditioning accelerates muscle deoxygenation dynamics and enhances exercise endurance during the work-to-work test. *Physiological Reports*, 3 (5), p. 12395.

Kimura, M., Ueda, K., Goto, C., Jitsuiki, D., Nishioka, K., Umemura, T., Noma, K., Yoshizumi, M., Chayama, K. and Higashi, Y. (2007). Repetition of ischemic preconditioning augments endothelium-dependent vasodilation in humans: Role of endothelium-derived nitric oxide and endothelial progenitor cells. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 27 (6), pp. 1403–1410.

Kjeld, T., Rasmussen, M., Jattu, T., Nielsen, H. and Secher, N. (2014). Ischemic preconditioning of one forearm enhances static and dynamic apnea. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 46 (1), pp. 151-5.

Kloner, R. (2009). Clinical application of remote ischemic preconditioning. Circulation, 119 (6), pp. 776-778.

Kono, Y., Fukuda, S., Hanatani, A., Nakanishi, K., Otsuka, K., Taguchi, H. and Shimada, K. (2014). Remote ischemic conditioning improves coronary microcirculation in healthy subjects and patients with heart failure. *Drug design, development and therapy*, 8, p. 1175.

Kraemer, W., Duncan, N. and Volek, J. (1998). Resistance training and elite athletes: adaptations and program considerations. *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, 28 (2), pp. 110-119.

Kraus, A., Pasha, E., Machin, D., Alkatan, M., Kloner, R. and Tanaka, H. (2014). Bilateral Upper Limb Remote Ischemic Preconditioning Improves Peak Anaerobic Power in Recreationally Active Adults. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 46 (5), p.889. Krebs, P. and Powers, S. (1980). Reliability of Laboratory Endurance Tests. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 21 (2), p.S10.

Lalonde, F. and Curnier, D. (2015). Can anaerobic performance be improved by remote ischemic preconditioning? *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 29 (1), pp. 80-85.

Lawson, C. and Downey, J. (1993). Preconditioning: state of the art myocardial protection. *Cardiovascular research*, 27 (4), pp. 542-550.

Lecocq, B., Lecocq, V. and Jaillon, P. (1989). Physiologic relation between cardiac cycle and QT duration in healthy volunteers. *The American journal of cardiology*, 64 (8), pp.481-486.

Libonati J., Howell, A., Incanno, N., Pettee, K. and Glassberg, H., (2001). Brief muscle hypoperfusion/hyperemia: an ergogenic aid? *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 15 (3), pp. 362-366.

Limberg, J., Eldridge, M., Proctor, L., Sebranek, J. and Schrage, W. (2010). α -Adrenergic control of blood flow during exercise: effect of sex and menstrual phase. *Journal of applied physiology*, 109 (5), pp. 1360-1368.

Lindsay, A., Petersen, C., Blackwell, G., Ferguson, H., Parker, G., Steyn, N. and Gieseg, S. (2017). The effect of 1 week of repeated ischaemic leg preconditioning on simulated Keirin cycling performance: A randomised trial. *BMJ Open Sport and Exercise Medicine*, 3 (1).

Lindsay, A., Petersen, C., Ferguson, H., Blackwell, G. and Rickerby, S. (2018). Lack of a Dose Response from 7 Days of Ischemic Preconditioning in Moderately trained Cyclists. *Sports Medicine International Open*, 2 (4), pp. E91–E97.

Lintz, J., Dalio, M., Joviliano, E. and Piccinato, C. (2013). Ischemic pre and postconditioning in skeletal muscle injury produced by ischemia and reperfusion in rats. *Acta Cirurgica Brasileira*, 28, pp. 441-446.

Lisbôa, F., Turnes, T., Cruz, R., Raimundo, J., Pereira, G. and Caputo, F. (2017). The time dependence of the effect of ischemic preconditioning on successive sprint swimming performance. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 20 (5), pp. 507–511.

Liu, R., Liu, J., Ma, X., Li, Q. and An, R. (2021). Effect of FIFA 11+ intervention on change of direction performance in soccer and futsal players: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, 16 (3), pp. 862-872.

Lorenzo, S., Minson, C., Babb, T. and Halliwill, J. (2011). Lactate threshold predicting time-trial performance: impact of heat and acclimation. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 111 (1), pp. 221-227.

Loukogeorgakis, S., Williams, R., Panagiotidou, A., Kolvekar, S., Donald, A., Cole, T., Yellon, D., Deanfield, J. and MacAllister, R. (2007). Transient limb ischemia induces remote preconditioning and remote postconditioning in humans by a KATP channel-dependent mechanism. *Circulation*, 116 (12), pp. 1386–1395.

Luca, M., Liuni, A., McLaughlin, K., Gori, T. and Parker, J. (2013). Daily ischemic preconditioning provides sustained protection from ischemia-reperfusion induced endothelial dysfunction: *A human study. Journal of the American Heart Association*, 2 (1).

Lucia, A., San Juan, A., Montilla, M., Cañete, S., Santalla, A., Earnest, C. and Pérez, M. (2004). In professional road cyclists, low pedaling cadences are less efficient. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 36 (6), pp. 1048–1054.

Lukes, D., Lundgren, A., Skogsberg, U., Karlsson-Parra, A., Soussi, B. and Olausson, M. (2005). Ischemic preconditioning can overcome the effect of moderate to severe cold ischemia on concordant mouse xeno–heart transplants. *In Transplantation proceedings*, 37 (8), pp. 3332-3334.

Lv, J., Guan, W., You, Q., Deng, L., Zhu, Y., Guo, K., Gao, X., Kong, J. and Yang, C. (2020). RIPC provides neuroprotection against ischemic stroke by suppressing apoptosis via the mitochondrial pathway. *Scientific Reports*, 10 (1).

Mah, C. Mah, K. Kezirian, E. and Dement, W. (2011). The effects of sleep extension on the athletic performance of collegiate basketball players. *Sleep*, 34 (7), pp. 942–950.

Marocolo, M., Marocolo, I., da Mota, G., Simão, R., Maior, A. and Coriolano, H. (2016a). Beneficial Effects of Ischemic Preconditioning in Resistance Exercise Fade over Time. International Journal of Sports Medicine, 37 (10), pp. 819–824.

Marocolo, M., da Mota, G., Simim, M. and Coriolano, H. (2015). Myths and Facts about the Effects of Ischemic Preconditioning on Performance. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 37 (2), pp. 87-96.

Marocolo, M., Willardson, J., Marocolo, I., da Mota, G., Simão, R. and Maior, A., (2016b). Ischemic preconditioning and placebo intervention improves resistance exercise performance. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 30 (5), pp. 1462-1469.

Marocolo, M., Billaut, F. and da Mota, G. (2018). Ischemic preconditioning and exercise performance: an ergogenic aid for whom? *Frontiers in Physiology*, 9, p. 1874.

Milioni, F., Zagatto, A., Barbieri, R., Andrade, V., dos Santos, J., Gobatto, C., da Silva, A., Santiago, P. and Papoti, M. (2017). Energy systems contribution in the running-based anaerobic sprint test. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 38 (3), pp. 226–232.

Millet, G., Vleck, V. and Bentley, D., (2009). Physiological differences between cycling and running. *Sports Medicine*, 39 (3), pp. 179-206.

Montoye, A., Mitchinson, C., Townsend, O., Nemmers, C., Serkaian, C. and Rider, B. (2020). Ischemic preconditioning does not improve time trial performance in recreational runners. *International Journal of Exercise Science*, 13 (6), p. 1402.

Mohapatra, P., Preejith, S. and Sivaprakasam, M., (2017). A novel sensor for wrist based optical heart rate monitor. In 2017 IEEE international instrumentation and measurement technology conference (I2MTC) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.

van den Munckhof, I., Riksen, N., Seeger, J., Schreuder, T., Borm, G., Eijsvogels, T., Hopman, M., Rongen, G. and Thijssen, D. (2013). Aging attenuates the protective effect of ischemic preconditioning against endothelial ischemia-reperfusion injury in humans. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 304 (12), pp. 1727-1732.

Murry, C., Jennings, R. and Reimer, K. (1986). Preconditioning with ischemia: a delay of lethal cell injury in ischemic myocardium. *Circulation*, 74 (5), pp. 1124-1136.

De Nardi, M., La Torre, A., Barassi, A., Ricci, C. and Banfi, G. (2011). Effects of cold-water immersion and contrast-water therapy after training in young soccer players. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness*, 51 (4), pp. 609-15.

Niespodziński, B., Mieszkowski, J., Kochanowicz, M., Kochanowicz, A. and Antosiewicz, J. (2021). Effect of 10 consecutive days of remote ischemic preconditioning on local neuromuscular performance. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 60, p.10854.

Noakes, T. (2000). Physiological models to understand exercise fatigue and the adaptations that predict or enhance athletic performance. *J Med Sci Sports*, 10, pp. 123–145.

Ntoumanis, N., Healy, L., Sedikides, C., Duda, J., Stewart, B., Smith, A. and Bond, J. (2014). When the going gets tough: The "why" of goal striving matters. *Journal of personality*, 82 (3), pp. 225-236.

O'Brien, L. and Jacobs, I. (2021). Methodological Variations Contributing to Heterogenous Ergogenic Responses to Ischemic Preconditioning. *Frontiers in Physiology*, p. 575.

Pang, C., Yang, R., Zhong, A., Xu, N., Boyd, B. and Forrest, C. (1995). Acute ischaemic preconditioning protects against skeletal muscle infarction in the pig. *Cardiovascular research*, 29 (6), pp. 782-788.

Paradis-Deschênes, P., Joanisse, D. and Billaut, F. (2017). Sex-specific impact of ischemic preconditioning on tissue oxygenation and maximal concentric force. *Frontiers in physiology*, 7, p. 674.

Paradis-Deschênes, P., Joanisse, D. and Billaut, F. (2018). Ischemic Preconditioning Improves Time Trial Performance at Moderate Altitude. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 50 (3), pp. 533–541.

Paradis-Deschênes, P., Joanisse, D. and Billaut, F. (2016). Ischemic preconditioning increases muscle perfusion, oxygen uptake, and force in strength-trained athletes. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism,* 41 (9), pp. 938-944.

Parker, J., Testa, M., Jimenez, A., Tofler, G., Muller, J., Parker, J. and Stone, P. (1994). Morning increase in ambulatory ischemia in patients with stable coronary artery disease. Importance of physical activity and increased cardiac demand. *Circulation*, 89 (2), pp. 604-614.

Patterson, S., Bezodis, N., Glaister, M. and Pattison, J. (2015). The effect of ischemic preconditioning on repeated sprint cycling performance. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 47 (8), pp. 1652–1658.

Patterson, S., Burr, J. and Warmington, S. (2021). Blood Flow Restriction: Rehabilitation to Performance. *Frontiers in Physiology*, p. 528.

Paull, E. and Van Guilder, G. (2019). Remote ischemic preconditioning increases accumulated oxygen deficit in middle-distance runners. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 126 (5), pp. 1193-1203.

Pell, T., Baxter, G., Yellon, D. and Drew, G. (1998). Renal ischemia preconditions myocardium: role of adenosine receptors and ATP-sensitive potassium channels. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 275 (5), pp. 1542-1547.

Pepine, C. (2009). The impact of nitric oxide in cardiovascular medicine: untapped potential utility. *The American journal of medicine*, 122 (5), pp. S10-S15.

Peralta, C., Closa, D., Hotter, G., Gelpi, E., Prats, N. and Rosello-Catafau, J. (1996). Liver ischemic preconditioning is mediated by the inhibitory action of nitric oxide on endothelin. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 229 (1), pp. 264-270.

Pilcher, J., Young, P., Weatherall, M., Rahman, I., Bonser, R. and Beasley, R. (2012). A systematic review and meta-analysis of the cardioprotective effects of remote ischaemic preconditioning in open cardiac surgery. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 105 (10), pp. 436-445.

Przyklenk, K., Bauer, B., Ovize, M., Kloner, R. and Whittaker, P. (1993). Regional ischemic preconditioning protects remote virgin myocardium from subsequent sustained coronary occlusion. *Circulation*, 87 (3), pp. 893-899.

Rampinini, E., Sassi, A., Morelli, A., Mazzoni, S., Fanchini, M. and Coutts, A. (2009). Repeatedsprint ability in professional and amateur soccer players. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition and Metabolism*, 34 (6), pp. 1048–1054.

Ribeiro, A., Novaes, J., dos Reis, N., Telles, L., Sant'Ana, L., Raider, L., Dal Poggetto, L., Brown, A., Panza, P., Martinez, D. and Mansur, H. (2019). Acute Effect of Ischemic Preconditioning on the Performance and on the Hemodynamic Responses of High-Performance Male Judo Athletes. *Journal of Professional Exercise Physiology*, 16 (3).

Richard, P. and Billaut, F. (2019). Effects of inspiratory muscle warm-up on locomotor muscle oxygenation in elite speed skaters during 3000 m time trials. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 119 (1), pp. 191-200.

Riksen, N., Smits, P. and Rongen, G. (2004). Ischaemic preconditioning: from molecular characterisation to clinical application-part I. *Neth J Med*, 62 (10), pp. 353-63.

Sabino-Carvalho, J. Lopes, T., Obeid-Freitas, T., Ferreira, T., Succi, J., Silva, A. and Silva, B. (2017). Effect of Ischemic Preconditioning on Endurance Performance Does Not Surpass Placebo. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 49 (1), pp. 124–132.

Sadeh, A. (2008). Commentary: Comparing actigraphy and parental report as measures of children's sleep. *Journal of pediatric psychology*, 33 (4), pp. 406-407.

Sadeh, A. and Acebo, C. (2002). The role of actigraphy in sleep medicine. *Sleep medicine reviews*, 6 (2), pp. 113-124.

Salvador, A., de Aguiar, R., Lisbôa, F., Pereira, K., de Cruz, R. and Caputo, F. (2016). Ischemic preconditioning and exercise performance: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance*, 11 (1), pp. 4–14.

Schimpchen, J., Skorski, S., Nopp, S. and Meyer, T. (2016). Are "classical" tests of repeatedsprint ability in football externally valid? A new approach to determine in-game sprinting behaviour in elite football players. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 34 (6), pp. 519–526.

Seeger, J., Timmers, S., Ploegmakers, D., Cable, N., Hopman, M. and Thijssen, D. (2017) Is delayed ischemic preconditioning as effective on running performance during a 5 km time trial as acute IPC? *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 20 (2), pp. 208–212.

Segal, S. (2005). Regulation of blood flow in the microcirculation. *Microcirculation*, 12 (1), pp. 33-45.

Sharma, V., Cunniffe, B., Verma, A., Cardinale, M. and Yellon, D. (2014). Characterization of acute ischemia-related physiological responses associated with remote ischemic preconditioning: A randomized controlled, crossover human study. *Physiological Reports*, 2 (11).

Sidhu, S., Weavil, J., Venturelli, M., Garten, R., Rossman, M., Richardson, R., Gmelch, B., Morgan, D. and Amann, M. (2014). Spinal μ -opioid receptor-sensitive lower limb muscle afferents determine corticospinal responsiveness and promote central fatigue in upper limb muscle. *The Journal of physiology*, 592 (22), pp. 5011-5024

da Silva Novaes, J., da Silva Telles, L., Monteiro, E., da Silva Araujo, G., Vingren, J., Silva Panza, P., Reis, V., Laterza, M. and Vianna, J., (2021). Ischemic preconditioning improves resistance training session performance. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 35 (11), pp .2993-2998.

da Silva Telles, L., Carelli, L., Bráz, I., Junqueira, C., Monteiro, E., Reis, V., Vianna, J. and da Silva Novaes, J. (2020). Effects of ischemic preconditioning as a warm-up on leg press and bench press performance. *Journal of Human Kinetics*, 75 (1), pp. 267-277.

Slater, J., Botsis, T., Walsh, J., King, S., Straker, L. and Eastwood, P. (2015). Assessing sleep using hip and wrist actigraphy. *Sleep and Biological Rhythms*, 13 (2), pp. 172-180.

Slysz, J. and Burr, J. (2019) Impact of 8 weeks of repeated ischemic preconditioning on running performance. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 119 (6), pp. 1431–1437.

Soultanakis, H., Nafpaktiitou, D. and Mandaloufa, S. (2015). Impact of cool and warm water immersion on 50-m sprint performance and lactate recovery in swimmers. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness*, 55 (4), pp. 267-72.

de Souza, H., Arriel, R., Hohl, R., da Mota, G. and Marocolo, M. (2019). Is Ischemic Preconditioning Intervention Occlusion-Dependent to Enhance Resistance Exercise Performance? *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 35 (10), pp. 2706-2712.

Speechly-Dick, M., Mocanu, M. and Yellon, D. (1994). Protein kinase C. Its role in ischemic preconditioning in the rat. *Circulation Research*, 75 (3), pp. 586-590.

Spencer, M., Bishop, D., Dawson, B. and Goodman, C. (2005). Physiological and Metabolic Responses of Repeated-Sprint Activities Specific to Field-Based Team Sports. *Sports Medicine*, 35 (12), pp. 1025-1044.

Tanaka, D., Suga, T., Tanaka, T., Kido, K., Honjo, T., Fujita, S., Hamaoka, T. and Isaka, T. (2016). Ischemic Preconditioning Enhances Muscle Endurance during Sustained Isometric Exercise. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 37 (8), pp. 614–618.

Tapuria, N., Kumar, Y., Habib, M., Amara, M., Seifalian, A. and Davidson, B. (2008). Remote Ischemic Preconditioning: A Novel Protective Method from Ischemia Reperfusion Injury-A Review. *Journal of Surgical Research*, 150 (2), pp. 304–330.

Thijssen, D., Black, M., Pyke, K., Padilla, J., Atkinson, G., Harris, R., Parker, B., Widlansky, M., Tschakovsky, M. and Green, D. (2011). Assessment of flow-mediated dilation in humans: a methodological and physiological guideline. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 300 (1), pp. H2-H12.

Thijssen, D., Maxwell, J., Green, D., Cable, N. and Jones, H. (2016). Repeated ischaemic preconditioning: a novel therapeutic intervention and potential underlying mechanisms. *Experimental physiology*, 101 (6), pp. 677-692.

Thompson, K., Whinton, A., Ferth, S., Spriet, L. and Burr, J. (2018). Ischemic preconditioning: No influence on maximal sprint acceleration performance. *International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance*, 13 (8), pp. 986–990.

Thygesen, K., Alpert, J. and White, H. (2007). Universal definition of myocardial infarction. *Journal of American College of Cardiology*, 50 (22), pp. 2525–2538.

Tocco, F., Marongiu, E., Ghiani, G., Sanna, I., Palazzolo, G., Olla, S., Pusceddu, M., Sanna, P., Corona, F., Concu, A. and Crisafulli, A. (2015). Muscle ischemic preconditioning does not improve performance during self-paced exercise. *International journal of sports medicine*, 36 (1), pp. 9-15.

Tu, X., Yang, W., Chen, J., Chen, Y., Chen, Q., Chen, P. and Shi, S. (2015). Repetitive ischemic preconditioning attenuates inflammatory reaction and brain damage after focal cerebral ischemia in rats: involvement of PI3K/Akt and ERK1/2 signaling pathway. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, 55 (4), pp. 912-922.

Turcato, S., Turnbull, L., Wang, G., Honbo, N., Simpson, P., Karliner, J. and Baker, A. (2006). Ischemic preconditioning depends on age and gender. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, 101 (3), pp. 235–243.

Turnes, T., Cruz, R., Caputo, F. and De Aguiar, R. (2019). The impact of preconditioning strategies designed to improve 2000-m rowing ergometer performance in trained rowers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance*, 14 (7), pp. 871-879.

Veighey, K. and MacAllister, R. (2012). Clinical applications of remote ischemic preconditioning. *Cardiology Research and Practice*.

Wadley, G. and Le Rossignol, P. (1998). The relationship between repeated sprint ability and the aerobic and anaerobic energy systems. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 1 (2), pp. 100-110.

Walker, D. and Yellon, D. (1992). Ischaemic preconditioning: from mechanisms to exploitation. *Cardiovascular research*, 26 (8), pp. 734-739.

Wang, W., Baynosa, R. and Zamboni, W. (2011). Therapeutic interventions against reperfusion injury in skeletal muscle. *Journal of Surgical Research*, 170 (1), pp. 175–182.

Warburton, D., Jamnik, V., Bredin, S., Shephard, R. and Gledhill, N. (2018). The 2018 Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire for Everyone (PAR-Q+) and electronic Physical Activity Readiness Medical Examination (ePARmed-X+): 2018 PAR-Q+. *The Health & Fitness Journal of Canada*, 11 (1), pp. 31-34.

Wever, K., Hooijmans, C., Riksen, N., Sterenborg, T., Sena, E., Ritskes-Hoitinga, M. and Warlé, M. (2015). Determinants of the efficacy of cardiac ischemic preconditioning: a systematic review and meta-analysis of animal studies. *PloS one*, 10 (11), p. e0142021.

Xuan, Y., Guo, Y., Han, H., Zhu, Y. and Bolli, R. (2001). An essential role of the JAK-STAT pathway in ischemic preconditioning. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98 (16), pp. 9050-9055.

Yin, D., Sankary, H., Chong, A., Shen, J., Foster, P. and Williams, J., (1998). Protective effect of ischemic preconditioning on liver preservation-reperfusion injury in rats. *Transplantation*, 66 (2), pp. 152-157.

Ytrehus, K., Liu, Y. and Downey, J. (1994). Preconditioning protects ischemic rabbit heart by protein kinase C activation. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 266 (3), pp. 1145-1152.

Yuan, Y. (2019). Vascularized Lung tissue engineering. *Encycl Tissue Eng. Regen. Med.*, 1, pp. 179-187.

Zagatto, A., Miyagi, W., de Barros Sousa, F. and Gobatto, C. (2017). Relationship between anaerobic capacity estimated using a single effort and 30-s tethered running outcomes. *PLoS ONE*, 12 (2), p. e0172032.

Zinner, C., Born, D. and Sperlich, B. (2017). Ischemic preconditioning does not alter performance in multidirectional high-intensity intermittent exercise. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 8, p. 1029.
